
 

Page 1 of 3 
 

REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY 
MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 
Thursday, September 14, 2023 at 9:00 a.m. 

 
City of West Sacramento - City Hall  

1110 W Capitol Ave.  
West Sacramento, CA 95691 

(916) 967-7692 
 
IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING VIRTUAL PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 
The Regional Water Authority currently provides in person as well as virtual public 
participation via the Zoom link below until further notice. The public shall have the 
opportunity to directly address the Board on any item of interest before or during the 
Board’s consideration of that item. Public comment on items within the jurisdiction of the 
Board is welcomed, subject to reasonable time limitations for each speaker. 
 

Join the meeting from your computer, tablet or smartphone 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81618949935?pwd=bVRXaFRZazA0N0FTRWVSaVNWYkFjUT09 

Phone: 1-669-900-6833 

Meeting ID: 816 1894 9935    Passcode: 738654 

If we experience technical difficulties and the Zoom link drops and you are no longer 
able to connect to the Board meeting, please dial 877-654-0338 – Guest Code 198 

Public documents relating to any open session item listed on this agenda that are 
distributed to all or a majority of the members of the Board of Directors less than 72 hours 
before the meeting are available for public inspection in the customer service area of the 
Authority’s Administrative Office at the address listed above. 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you have a disability and need a 
disability related modification or accommodation to participate in this meeting, please 
contact the Executive Director of the Authority at (916) 967-7692. Requests must be made 
as early as possible, and at least one full business day before the start of the meeting. The 
Board of Directors may consider any agenda item at any time during the meeting. 

AGENDA 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 

2. PUBLIC COMMENT: Members of the public who wish to address the Board may 
do so at this time. Please keep your comments to less than three minutes. 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/83679455812?pwd=NTQ4OEdWbzZZT2h1M0xRc1RTdkRCUT09


Page 2 of 3 

3. CONSENT CALENDAR: All items listed under the Consent Calendar are
considered and acted upon by one motion. Board Members may request an item
be removed for separate consideration.

3.1 Approve the draft meeting minutes of June 14, 2023, RWA Special Board
Meeting and draft meeting minutes of August 21, 2023 General Managers 
Quarterly Workshop. 

3.2 Approve and authorize the Executive Director to execute Change Order #4 in 
the amount of $310,000 and upon the receipt of outstanding funds from 
participating agencies, the approved amount will increase by $211,900, for a 
total of $521,900 with Stantec Consulting Services Inc. for additional technical 
and planning support for continued development of the Sacramento Regional 
Water Bank. 

3.3 Approve and authorize the Executive Director to execute Task Order #2 in the 
amount of $150,000 with Khadam Consulting Inc for additional technical 
support for continued development of the Sacramento Regional Water Bank. 

Action: Approve Consent Calendar items as presented 

4. NEW MEMBERS
Presenter: Jim Peifer, Executive Director
Discussion/ Action: Approve the admission of Wood Rodgers, Inc. as an 
Affiliate member

5. EMPLOYEE SUPPLEMENTAL BENEFITS
Presenter: Josette Reina-Luken, Finance & Administrative Services Manager 
Discussion/Action: Approve of Total Administrative Services Corporation
(TASC) to be the provider for an optional RWA employee FSA, HSA, and 
dependent care benefits program beginning January 1, 2024; and Authorize 
the Executive Director to change Personnel Rules Appendix G to incorporate 
these changes under legal counsel guidance

6. PROPOSED REVISIONS TO RWA POLICY 200.1 THE RULES FOR 
PROCEEDINGS
Presenter: Jim Peifer, Executive Director
Discussion/Action: Approve proposed revisions to RWA Policy 200.1 the 
Rules for Proceedings

7. INFORMATION/PRESENTATION: REGIONAL WATER BANK UPDATE 
Presenter: Trevor Joseph, Manager of Technical Services

8. INFORMATION/PRESENTATION: ARTESIAN AGREEMENT UPDATE 
Presenter: Michelle Banonis, Manager of Strategic Affairs

9. INFORMATION/PRESENTATION: LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY UPDATE 
Presenter: Ryan Ojakian, Manager of Legislative and Regulatory Affairs 



Page 3 of 3 

10. INFORMATION/PRESENTATION: 2024 RWA BOARD ELECTIONS OFFICERS
AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Presenter: Jim Peifer, Executive Director

11. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT

12. DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS

ADJOURNMENT

Next RWA Board of Director’s Meeting: 
November 9, 2023, 9:00 a.m. at the Sacramento Area Sewer District & Sacramento 
Regional County Sanitation District, 10060 Goethe Road, Sacramento, CA 95827. The 
location is subject to change. 

Next RWA Executive Committee Meeting: 
September 26, 2023, 1:30 p.m. at the RWA Office, 2295 Gateway Oaks, Suite 100 
Sacramento, CA 95833.  

Notification will be emailed when the RWA electronic packet is complete and posted on 
the RWA website at: https://www.rwah2o.org/meetings/board-meetings/. 

Posted on September 8, 2023 

____________________________ 
Ashley Flores, CMC, Secretary 

https://www.rwah2o.org/meetings/board-meetings/


* Names highlighted in red are Executive Committee members 

RWA Board of Directors 
2023 Chair: Tony Firenzi 

2023 Vice Chair: Brett Ewart  
California American Water 
Audie Foster, General Manager 
Evan Jacobs, Operations Manager 
Carmichael Water District  
Ron Greenwood, Board Member 
Cathy Lee, General Manager 

Citrus Heights Water District  
Caryl Sheehan, Director 
Raymond Riehle, Director (alternate) 
Hilary Straus, General Manager  
Rebecca Scott, Director of Operations (alternate) 
City of Folsom  
YK Chalamcherla, Councilmember 
Marcus Yasutake, Environmental/Water Resources Director (alternate) 
City of Lincoln 
Holly Andreatta, Councilmember  
Matthew Medill, Public Works Director  
Chris Nelson, Environmental Services Manager (alternate) 
City of Roseville 
Pauline Roccucci, Councilmember 
Scott Alvord, Councilmember (alternate) 
Sean Bigley, Assistant Environment Utilities Director 
Rich Plecker, Director of Utilities (alternate) 
City of Sacramento 
Lisa Kaplan, Councilmember 
Brett Ewart, Water Policy & Regional Planning Supervising Engineer, Vice Chair 
Michelle Carrey, Supervising Engineer (alternate) 
Anne Sanger, Policy and Legislative Specialist (alternate) 
City of West Sacramento 
Martha Guerrero, Councilmember 
William Roberts, Director of Public Works and Operations 
City of Yuba City 
Shon Harris, Councilmember 
Diana Langley, City Manager 
Del Paso Manor Water District 
Gwynne Pratt, Board Member 
Victoria Hoppe, Acting General Manager 
El Dorado Irrigation District 
Pat Dwyer, Director/Board President 
Jim Abercrombie, General Manager 
Brian Mueller, Engineering Director (alternate) 



Elk Grove Water District 
Tom Nelson, Board Chair 
Bruce Kamilos, General Manager 
Fair Oaks Water District 
Randy Marx, Board Member 
Tom Gray, General Manager 
Georgetown Divide Public Utility District 
Michael Saunders, Board Member 
Nicholas Schneider, General Manager 
Adam Brown, Operations Manager (alternate) 
Golden State Water Company 
Paul Schubert, General Manager 
Ernie Gisler, Director of Engineering 

Nevada Irrigation District 
Ricki Heck, Board Member  
Karen Hull, Board Member (alternate) 
Greg Jones, Assistant General Manager  
Jennifer Hanson, General Manager (alternate) 
Orange Vale Water Company 
Robert Hunter, Board Member 
Joe Duran, General Manager 
Placer County Water Agency 
Robert Dugan, Board Member 
Tony Firenzi, Director of Strategic Affairs, Chair 
Andy Fecko, General Manager, (alternate) 
Mike Lee, Board Member, (alternate) 
Rancho Murieta Community Services District 
Tim Maybee, Director 
Mimi Morris, General Manager 

Sacramento County Water Agency 
Patrick Kennedy, Supervisor 
Michael Grinstead, P.E. Principal Civil Engineer  
Sacramento Suburban Water District 
Bob Wichert, Board Member  
Dan York, General Manager 
Jay Boatwright, (alternate) 
Craig Locke, (alternate) 
Dave Jones, (alternate) 
Kevin Thomas, Board Member (alternate) 
San Juan Water District 
Dan Rich, Director 
Greg Zlotnick, Water Resources and Strategic Affairs  
Ted Costa, Board President (alternate) 
Paul Helliker, General Manager (alternate) 
 
  



RWA ASSOCIATES 
Organization: Representatives: 

El Dorado Water Agency Lori Parlin, Chair 
Rebecca Guo, Interim General Manager (alternate) 

Placer County Ken Grehm, Director Public Works and Facilities 
Jared Deck, Manager Environmental Engineering 

Sacramento Municipal Utility District  
 

Paul Lau, General Manager/CEO 
Christopher Cole, Strategic Account Advisor 
Chad Adair, Energy Trading and Contracts Manager 

Sacramento Regional County Sanitation District Mike Huot, Director of Policy and Planning  
Terrie Mitchell, Manager Legislative and Regulatory Affairs 
David Ocenosak, Principal Civil Engineer 
Jose Ramirez, Senior Civil Engineer  

Sacramento Area Flood Control Agency  Richard Johnson, Executive Director  

Yuba Water Agency Adam Robin, Government Relations Manager 
Willie Whittlesey, General Manager 

 
RWA AFFILIATE MEMBERS 

Organization: Representatives: 

Black & Veatch David Carlson, Vice president 

Brown & Caldwell Paul Selsky, Water Supply Planning, Vice president 
LaSandra Edwards, Civil Engineer 
May Huang, Engineer 
David Zuber, Vice President 

GEI Consultants John Woodling, Vice President, Branch Manager 
Chris Petersen, Principal Hydrogeologist 
Richard Shatz, Principal Hydrogeologist 

HDR, Inc. Jafar Faghih, Water Resources Engineer 
Ed Winkler, Client Development Lead 

Sacramento Association of Realtors David Tanner, Chief Executive Officer 
Christopher Ly, Chief Operations Officer 

Stantec Kari Shively, Vice President 
Vanessa Nishikawa, Principal Water Resources Engineer 

West Yost Associates Charles Duncan, President 
Abigail Madrone, Business Development Director 
Kelye McKinney, Engineering Manager I 
Jim Mulligan, Principal Engineer 

Woodard & Curran  Ali Taghavi, Principal 
Jim Graydon, Senior Client Service Manager 

 



Agenda Item 2 

 

 
Regional Water Authority 
September 14, 2023 
Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 2 
Page 1 of 1 

  

 
 

Topic: Public Comment 
Type: New Business 
Item For: Information/Discussion 
Purpose: Policy 200.1, Rule 11 

 
 
 

 
SUBMITTED BY: 

Ashley Flores, CMC 
Secretary 

 
PRESENTER: 

Jim Peifer 
Executive Director 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This is an information item to provide an opportunity for the Regional Water Authority Board of 
Directors to recognize or hear from visitors that may be attending the meeting or to allow 
members of the public to address the Board of Directors on matters that are not on the agenda. 
 
As noted on the agenda, members of the public who wish to address the committee may do so at 
this time. Please keep your comments to less than three minutes. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION 
None. This item is for information only. 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
Public agencies are required by law to provide an opportunity for the public to address the RWA 
Board of Directors matters that are not on the agenda. 
 

https://rwah2o.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/200.1-Rules-for-Proceedings.pdf


3.0 CONSENT CALENDAR 



Agenda Item 3.1 

 

 
Regional Water Authority 
September 14, 2023 
Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 3.1 
Page 1 of 1 

  

 
 

Topic: Meeting Minutes 
Type: Consent Calendar 
Item For: Action; Motion to Approve 
Purpose: Policy 200.1, Rule 14 

 
 
 

 
SUBMITTED BY: 

Ashley Flores, CMC 
Secretary 

 
PRESENTER: 

Jim Peifer 
Executive Director 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This is an action item for the Regional Water Authority Board of Directors to review and consider 
approving the draft Minutes of the regular Regional Water Authority Board Special Meeting of 
June 14, 2023 and draft meeting minutes of August 21, 2023 General Managers Quarterly 
Workshop. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION 
A motion to approve the Minutes, as presented or amended. 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
The draft Minutes of the above referenced meetings are included with this Agenda. The Minutes 
reflect the RWA Policy 200.1 to document specific details on items discussed at the meetings. 
 
The Executive Director may list on the agenda a "consent calendar", which will consist of routine 
matters on which there is generally no opposition or need for discussion. Examples of consent 
calendar items might include approval of minutes, financial reports and routine resolutions. Any 
matter may be removed from the consent calendar and placed on the regular calendar at the 
request of any member of the Board. The entire consent calendar may be approved by a single 
motion made, seconded and approved by the Board. 
 
FINDING/CONCLUSION 
Staff believes the draft of the presented Minutes correctly reflect the information shared and 
actions taken by the Board of Directors. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment 1- Draft Meeting Minutes of the Regional Water Authority Board Special Meeting of  
 June 14, 2023  
Attachment 2- Draft Meeting Minutes of August 21, 2023 General Managers Quarterly Workshop 



1 
 

 

 
RWA Special Board Meeting 

Draft Minutes 
June 14, 2023  

 
 
1.  CALL TO ORDER  
 
 Chair Firenzi called the special meeting of the Board of Directors to order at 1:30 p.m. 

at City of Fair Oaks – Fair Oaks Water District, 10326 Fair Oaks Blvd., Fair Oaks, CA 
95628. A quorum was established of 16 participating members present in person. 
Individuals who participated are listed below: 

 
RWA Board Members  
S. Audie Foster, California American Water 
Ron Greenwood, Carmichael Water District 
Caryl Sheehan, Citrus Heights Water District 
Marcus Yasutake, City of Folsom 
Holly Andreatta, City of Lincoln 
Pauline Roccucci, City of Roseville 
Brett Ewart, City of Sacramento 
William Roberts, City of West Sacramento 
Gwen Pratt, Del Paso Manor Water District 
Bruce Kamilos, Elk Grove Water District 
Randy Marx, Fair Oaks Water District 
Michael Saunders, Georgetown Divide Public Utility District 
Robert Dugan, Placer County Water Agency 
Tony Firenzi, Placer County Water Agency 
Michael Grinstead, Sacramento County Water Agency 
Bob Wichert, Sacramento Suburban Water District 
Greg Zlotnick, San Juan Water District 
 
RWA Associate Members 
None 
 
RWA Affiliate Members 

 Vanessa Nishikawa, Principal Water Resources Engineer, Stantec 
 

Staff Members 
Jim Peifer, Ryan Ojakian, Michelle Banonis, Trevor Joseph, Monica Garcia, Ashley 
Flores, and Ryan Bezerra, legal counsel. 
 
Others in Attendance:  
Cathy Lee, Carmichael Water District; Jay Boatwright, Sacramento Suburban Water 
District, Craig Locke, Sacramento Suburban Water District, Paul Helliker, San Juan 



2 
 

Water District; Sean Bigley, City of Roseville; Tom Gray, Fair Oaks Water District; 
Ted Costa, San Juan Water District; Dan York, Sacramento Suburban Water 
District; Hilary Straus, Citrus Heights Water District; Rebecca Scott, Citrus Heights 
Water District; Adam Robin, Yuba Water Agency; Terrie Mitchell, Sacramento 
Regional County Sanitation District; Tony Barela, San Juan Water District; and 
Andy Fecko, Placer County Water Agency. 
 

 Director Greenwood entered at 1:40 p.m.  
 
2.  PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

Paul Helliker, San Juan Water District- Last Wednesday he emailed Executive 
Director Peifer and Board Secretary Flores providing the location in which he 
would be participating remotely and asked that it be added to the agenda per the 
requirements of the Brown Act. Dan Rich is unable to attend the meeting, as one of 
the two alternates I needed to ensure that I could participate in today's meeting 
virtually as I am unable to attend in person and would need to teleconference. I 
sent my email pursuant to RWA Policy 200.1 which was adopted by the RWA 
Board in 2002 which specifies that Board members may participate by 
teleconference as long as their location is listed on the agenda and the location is 
accessible to the public in accordance with the Brown Act. Rule 11 of that policy 
also specifies that the Executive Director will add items to the agenda that are 
requested by Board Members if done so at least 5 working days prior to the 
meeting, a condition I satisfied. After the agenda was posted that Friday, I sent a 
follow up email to Executive Director Peifer asking the agenda to be amended to 
include my remote location. Executive Director Peifer failed to do so. I am 
participating today as a member of the public and Ted Costa is there in person as 
the alternate. Heliker requested to avoid problems in the future with Board Member 
participation and meetings via teleconference he asked the Board reaffirm Board 
Policy 200.1 that allows teleconferencing and the mechanisms to do so.  
 
Chair Firenzi addressed the public comment stating that he received legal counsel 
on the matter and that he provided direction to staff to not include the remote 
locations that had been submitted.   

  
3. CONSENT CALENDAR 
 

3.1  Approve the draft meeting minutes of May 18, 2023 regular meeting.  

Director Zlotnick pulled Consent Item 3.1 draft meeting minutes of May 18, 2023.  

Director Zlotnick made the following motion: 

Motion #1 A motion was made to amend draft meeting minutes of May 18, 
2023 regular meeting In Item 4, last paragraph stating, “The sentiment of the 
Board was a preference to have the Board Members attend Board 
meetings.” The use of preference is more accurate. When virtual access is 
necessary as provided for under the Brown Act.”   



3 
 

 Motion/Second/Carried Director Zlotnick moved, with a second by Director Wichert 
 

Caryl Sheehan, Citrus Heights Water District; Marcus Yasutake, City of Folsom; 
William Roberts, City of West Sacramento; Bruce Kamilos, Elk Grove Water District; 
Michael Saunders, Georgetown Divide Public Utility District; Bob Wichert, 
Sacramento Suburban Water District; Greg Zlotnick, San Juan Water District; voted 
yes.  
 
S. Audie Foster, California American Water; Ron Greenwood, Carmichael Water 
District; Holly Andreatta, City of Lincoln; Pauline Roccucci, City of Roseville; Brett 
Ewart, Gwen Pratt, Del Paso Manor Water District; City of Sacramento; Randy Marx, 
Fair Oaks Water District; Robert Dugan, Placer County Water Agency; Michael 
Grinstead, Sacramento County Water Agency voted no. The motion failed. 
 
Roll Call Vote:  

 

 

 

Motion #1 failed for a quorum of the Board.  

Motion #2 A motion was made to approve Item 3.1 draft meeting minutes of 
May 18, 2023 as presented.  

Motion/Second/Carried Director Roccucci moved, with a second by Director Pratt 
 
S. Audie Foster, California American Water; Ron Greenwood, Carmichael Water 
District; Caryl Sheehan, Citrus Heights Water District; Marcus Yasutake, City of 
Folsom; Holly Andreatta, City of Lincoln; Pauline Roccucci, City of Roseville; Brett 
Ewart, City of Sacramento; William Roberts, City of West Sacramento; Gwen Pratt, 
Del Paso Manor Water District; Bruce Kamilos, Elk Grove Water District; Randy 
Marx, Fair Oaks Water District; Michael Saunders, Georgetown Divide Public Utility 
District; Robert Dugan, Placer County Water Agency; Michael Grinstead, 
Sacramento County Water Agency; Bob Wichert, Sacramento Suburban Water 
District; voted yes.  
 
Greg Zlotnick, San Juan Water District; voted no. The motion passed. 

Ayes 15 
Noes 1 
Abstained 0 
Absent 6 

 

4. LOW-INCOME HOUSEHOLD WATER ASSISTANCE PROGRAM  

Executive Director Peifer introduced Nichole Baxter, External Affairs, Northern 
CA, California American Water and Gloria Martinez, Community Resource Project 

Ayes 7 
Noes 9 
Abstained 0 
Absent 6 



4 
 

provided a presentation to the Board of Directors on resources available for 
member agency customers to assist paying their utility bills. The Community 
Resource Project is a program available in Sacramento, Yuba and Sutter 
Counties that utilizes federal, state and utility grants to provide low-income 
families with services to help pay their water and wastewater bills, and to increase 
awareness of this program. 

5. LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY UPDATE  

Ryan Ojakian, Manager of Legislative and Regulatory Affairs presented 
information for the Regional Water Authority Board of Directors to receive an oral 
report from Ryan Ojakian, Legislative and Regulatory Affairs Manager, on 
legislation post House of Origin deadline. 

6. APPROVE AGREEMENT WITH PARTICIPATING RWA MEMBERS FOR 
PROFESSIONAL LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT TRAINING SERVICES  

Executive Director Peifer presented this discussion item to the Board of Directors 
to inform the RWA members of a leadership development training opportunity for 
member agencies. The intent of the program is to provide some of the training for 
the next generation of member agency executives; and the RWA for providing 
short term services such as training.  

Staff asked the Board to take action to approve an agreement between the RWA 
and its member agencies for reimbursing the RWA for providing short term 
services such as training. With the intent that the agreement will be used for the 
training and future training programs. 

A motion was made to approve Agreement with Participating RWA Members 
for Professional Leadership Development Training Services 

Motion/Second/Carried Director Roberts moved, with a second by Director Dugan 
 
S. Audie Foster, California American Water; Ron Greenwood, Carmichael Water 
District; Marcus Yasutake, City of Folsom; Holly Andreatta, City of Lincoln; Pauline 
Roccucci, City of Roseville; Brett Ewart, City of Sacramento; William Roberts, City 
of West Sacramento; Gwen Pratt, Del Paso Manor Water District; Bruce Kamilos, 
Elk Grove Water District; Randy Marx, Fair Oaks Water District; Michael Saunders, 
Georgetown Divide Public Utility District; Robert Dugan, Placer County Water 
Agency; Michael Grinstead, Sacramento County Water Agency; Greg Zlotnick, San 
Juan Water District; voted yes.  

 
Bob Wichert, Sacramento Suburban Water District; voted no. The motion passed. 

Caryl Sheehan, Citrus Heights Water District; abstained from voting. 
 
Ayes 14 
Noes 1 
Abstained 1 
Absent 6 

 



5 
 

 

7. APPROVE FUNDING AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE STATE OF CA (NATURAL 
RESOURCES AGENCY AND DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES) AND 
RWA FOR VOLUNTARY AGREEMENT EARLY IMPLEMENTATION FOR THE 
AMERICAN RIVER  

Michelle Banonis, Manager of Strategic Affairs presented this action item to the 
Board of Directors approve a funding agreement between the State of California 
(Natural Resources Agency and Department of Water Resources) and the RWA 
for the RWA to receive $55 Million in grant funding for the construction of 
groundwater infrastructure. The funds will be provided to certain RWA member 
agencies to construct projects.  

A motion was made (1) Approve the Funding Agreement with DWR and 
authorize the RWA Executive Director to execute the final Funding 
Agreement, subject to review and concurrence from the Executive 
Committee in any further changes; 

(2) Direct the RWA Executive Committee to review and consider approval 
of the final Project Agreement to the RWA Executive Committee as 
authorized by RWA Policy 200.2; and 

(3) Direct RWA Staff to complete and file a Notice of Exemption upon 
execution of the Funding Agreement. 

Motion/Second/Carried Director Roberts moved, with a second by Director Andreatta 
 
S. Audie Foster, California American Water; Ron Greenwood, Carmichael Water 
District; Caryl Sheehan, Citrus Heights Water District; Marcus Yasutake, City of 
Folsom; Holly Andreatta, City of Lincoln; Pauline Roccucci, City of Roseville; Brett 
Ewart, City of Sacramento; William Roberts, City of West Sacramento; Gwen Pratt, 
Del Paso Manor Water District; Bruce Kamilos, Elk Grove Water District; Randy 
Marx, Fair Oaks Water District; Michael Saunders, Georgetown Divide Public Utility 
District; Robert Dugan, Placer County Water Agency; Michael Grinstead, 
Sacramento County Water Agency; Bob Wichert, Sacramento Suburban Water 
District; Greg Zlotnick, San Juan Water District; voted yes.  

 

Ayes 16 
Noes 0 
Abstained 0 
Absent 6 

 

8. OPPORTUNITY FOR PUBLIC TO ADDRESS CLOSED SESSION MATTERS  

None 

 



6 
 

Chair Firenzi announced the Closed Session Item and adjourned the Board into 
Closed Session at 3:17 p.m. 

9.   CLOSED SESSION  
 

9.1 Conference with legal counsel concerning significant exposure to litigation 
pursuant to gov. Code 54956.9(d)(2) and (e)(2): one case, claim by Cecilia 
Partridge. 

 
10.   RETURN TO OPEN SESSION - ANNOUNCEMENT OF REPORTABLE ACTION  

Chair Firenzi returned the Board into Regular Session at 3:51 p.m. No reportable 
action taken in Closed Session. 

 
11.   CLAIM FOR DAMAGES FROM CECILIA PARTRIDGE  

Ryan Bezerra, RWA General Counsel presented this action item to the Board of 
Directors consider taking action on claim filed by claimant Cecilia Partridge; and 
delegating to the Executive Committee action on any written application by the 
claimant for leave to present a late filed claim.  

A motion was made to (1) Direct RWA staff and counsel to provide notice 
that the claim was not timely filed as required by Government Code section 
911.3, subdivision (a); and, (2) Delegate to the Executive Committee action 
on any written application by the claimant for leave to present a late filed 
claim. 

Motion/Second/Carried Director Ewart moved, with a second by Director Saunders 
 

S. Audie Foster, California American Water; Ron Greenwood, Carmichael Water 
District; Caryl Sheehan, Citrus Heights Water District; Marcus Yasutake, City of 
Folsom; Holly Andreatta, City of Lincoln; Pauline Roccucci, City of Roseville; Brett 
Ewart, City of Sacramento; William Roberts, City of West Sacramento; Gwen Pratt, 
Del Paso Manor Water District; Bruce Kamilos, Elk Grove Water District; Randy 
Marx, Fair Oaks Water District; Michael Saunders, Georgetown Divide Public Utility 
District; Robert Dugan, Placer County Water Agency; Michael Grinstead, 
Sacramento County Water Agency; Bob Wichert, Sacramento Suburban Water 
District; Greg Zlotnick, San Juan Water District; voted yes.  
 

Ayes 16 
Noes 0 
Abstained 0 
Absent 6 

 

12.   EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT  

Executive Director Peifer directed the Board of Directors to his written report. 
  

13.   DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS 



7 
 

None. 
 

 
ADJOURNMENT  

 
With no further business to come before the Board, Chair Firenzi adjourned the 
meeting at 3:56 p.m.  
 
By: 
 
  
Brett Ewart, Vice Chair 

 
 

Attest: 
 
  
Ashley Flores, Board Secretary 



1 
 

 

 
General Managers Quarterly Workshop 

Draft Minutes 
August 21, 2023  

 
 
1.  CALL TO ORDER – ROLL CALL 
 
 Executive Director Peifer called the General Mangers Quarterly Workshop to order 

at 11:30 a.m. at City of Citrus Heights – Community Center, 6360 Fountain Square 
Drive, Citrus Heights, CA 95621. A quorum was established of 12 participating 
members present in person. Individuals who were present are listed below: 

 
RWA Board Members  
S. Audie Foster, California American Water 
Cathy Lee, Carmichael Water District 
Hilary Straus, Citrus Heights Water District 
Marcus Yasutake, City of Folsom 
Matthew Medill, City of Lincoln 
Sean Bigley, City of Roseville 
Tom Nelson, Elk Grove Water District 
Bruce Kamilos, Elk Grove Water District 
Nicholas Schnider, Georgetown Divide Public Utility District 
Tony Firenzi, Placer County Water Agency 
Michael Grinstead, Sacramento County Water Agency 
Dan York, Sacramento Suburban Water District 

 
Others In Attendance 
Pravani Vandeyar, City of Sacramento 
Andy Fecko, Placer County Water Agency 
Rebecca Scott, Citrus Heights Water District 
Jace Nunes, Citrus Heights Water District 
Nick Blair, Association of California Water Agencies (ACWA)  

 Tony Bar, San Juan Water District 
Paul Helliker, San Juan Water District  
Kerry Schmitz, Sacramento County Water 

 
RWA Staff Members 
Jim Peifer, Josette Reina-Luken, Ryan Ojakian, and Ashley Flores 

 
2. PUBLIC COMMENT 

 
None. 
 



2 
 

3. WELCOME/INTRODUCTIONS  
 

4. ITEMS OF DISCUSSION: 
The following items were discussed during this workshop, no actions were taken. 

 
• Purpose of the General Manager Meetings 
• Regional Purchasing Program  
• Electric Vehicle Regulation 
• Sacramento County Paving Restoration Standards 
• RiverArc Partners 
• Feedback - Round-table: What should we be meeting about? What do you want 

to discuss? 
o Frequency of GM meetings 
o Volunteers for hosting the next meeting 

 
ADJOURNMENT 

 
Executive Director Peifer adjourned the workshop at 12:03 p.m.  
 
By: 
 
 
Anthony Firenzi, Chair 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
Ashley Flores, Secretary 



Agenda Item 3.2 

 

 
Regional Water Authority – Board Meeting 
September 14, 2023 
Regular Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 3.2 
Page 1 of 2 

  

 
Topic: Approve Change Order #4 with Stantec Consulting Services Inc. 
Type: Consent Calendar 
Item For: Action; Approval by the Board of Directors 
Purpose: RWA Policy 300.2 

 

 
SUBMITTED BY: 

Trevor Joseph,  
Manager of Technical 
Services 

 
PRESENTER: 

Trevor Joseph,  
Manager of Technical 
Services 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This is an action item for the Regional Water Authority’s (RWA) Board of Directors to approve 
Change Order #4 in the amount of $310,000 and upon the receipt of outstanding funds from 
participating agencies, the approved amount will increase by $211,900, for a total of $521,900 with 
Stantec Consulting Services Inc. for additional technical and planning support for continued 
development of the Sacramento Regional Water Bank (SRWB).  If approved, this action enables the 
Executive Director to execute Change Order #4 in the above referenced total amount of $521,900. 
 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE RECOMMENDED ACTION 
Authorize the Executive Director to execute Change Order #4 in the amount of $310,000 and upon 
the receipt of outstanding funds from participating agencies, the approved amount will increase by 
$211,900, for a total of $521,900 with Stantec Consulting Services Inc. for additional technical and 
planning support for continued development of the Sacramento Regional Water Bank (SRWB). 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
In October 2022, Task Order 22-02 was executed with Stantec Consulting Services Inc in the 
amount of $427,000 which provided partial funding for a series of tasks to assist RWA with the 
implementation of a draft Plan of Study for Sacramento Regional Water Bank Development.   
Change orders #1, #2, and #3 all were rebudgeting tasks by tasks within the existing not to exceed 
Task Order amount of $427,000 under the existing Executive Director’s approval.  
 
The SRWB Program Committee and the RWA Executive Committee provided support and/or 
approved a recommendation to the RWA Board of Directors to approve a change order 
amendment in the amount of $521,900 in August 2023.  Since that time, RWA has been in the 
process of collecting the funds from the SRWB Program Committee.  As such, we are reducing the 
amendment to $310,000 until all outstanding funds are received.  Upon the Executive Director’s 
acknowledgement that additional and adequate funds have been received, an increase of 
$211,900 can be applied in additional to the $310,000 for a total of $521,900 as approved by the 
RWA Board of Directors. This measure is to ensure that no RWA Core funds are being pledged to 
cover a Water Bank contract obligation. 
 



Agenda Item 3.2 

 

 
Regional Water Authority – Board Meeting 
September 14, 2023 
Regular Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 3.2 
Page 2 of 2 

  

 
For this reason, Change Order #4 is the first change order that would increase the not to exceed 
amount $521,900, taking the total Task Order budget with Stantec Consulting Services Inc. from 
$427,000 to $948,900.   
 
Change order #4 adjusts compensation by task as follows: 
• Change in total compensation. Not-to-exceed budget (NTE) is increased from $427,000 to 

$948,900. Total initial budget authorization in Change Order No. 4 is $310,000 (increasing the 
total NTE budget from $427,000 to $737,000) with $211,900 designated as optional 
(increasing the total NTE budget from $737,000 to $948,900). Use of the optional budget and 
completion of associated services requires written authorization by RWA’s Executive 
Director. 

• Task 1: increased from $59,900 to $116,900. Initial budget authorization in Change Order No. 
4 is $40,000 (increasing the NTE budget from $59,900 to $99,900); $17,000 is optional 
(increasing the NTE budget from $99,900 to $116,900). 

• Task 2: increased from $104,500 to $129,500. Initial budget authorization in Change Order 
No. 4 is $0 (no increase to the NTE budget); $25,000 is optional (increasing the NTE budget 
from $104,500 to $129,500). 

• Task 3: increased from $45,000 to $175,000. Initial budget authorization in Change Order No. 
4 is $35,000 (increasing the NTE budget from $45,000 to $80,000); $95,000 is optional 
(increasing the NTE budget from $80,000 to $175,000). 

• Task 6: increased from $89,000 to $150,000. Initial budget authorization in Change Order No. 
4 is $61,000 (increasing the NTE budget from $89,000 to $150,000); $0 is optional (no 
increase to the NTE budget). 

• Task 7: increased from $62,800 to $286,700. Initial budget authorization in Change Order No. 
4 is $174,000 (increasing the NTE budget from $62,800 to $236,800); $49,900 is optional 
(increasing the NTE budget from $236,800 to $286,700). 

• Task 9: increased from $65,800 to $90,800. Initial budget authorization in Change Order No. 4 
is $0 (no increase to the NTE budget); $25,000 is optional (increasing the NTE budget from 
$65,800 to $90,800). 

• No changes to Tasks 4, 5, and 8. 
 

FINDING/CONCLUSION 
Staff is requesting additional consulting support for the further development of the Sacramento 
Regional Water Bank (SRWB).  Stantec Consulting Services Inc. technical and planning support is 
critical to the success of the SRWB. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment 1 - Professional Services Agreement with Stantec Consulting Services Inc. 
Attachment 2 - Change Order #4 with Stantec Consulting Services Inc. 

 





































 Page 1 

CHANGE ORDER 
 

Contract No. 1511346, TO 22-02 

Change Order No. 4 

Effective Date: September 14, 2023 

 

In accordance with Article 7 of the Master Consulting Services Agreement dated February 23, 2005 
(“Agreement”) between the Regional Water Authority (“CLIENT”) and Stantec Consulting Services Inc., 
formerly MWH Americas, Inc., (“CONSULTANT”), this Change Order modified the Agreement as follows: 

1. Change in Services:  

• Revisions to Tasks 1, 2, 3, 6, 7, and 9 during Period of Performance (as amended below). 
− Task 1: increased level of effort of subtasks 1.1 and 1.2. 
− Task 2: authorized portion of subtask 2.3. 
− Task 3: increased level of effort of subtask 3.1; authorized portion of subtask 3.2. 
− Task 6: increased level of effort of subtasks 6.1 and 6.2. 
− Task 7: increased level of effort of subtasks 7.1, 7.2, and 7.3; authorized portion of subtask 

7.4. 
− Task 9: increased level of effort of subtask 9.2. 

• No changes to Tasks 4, 5, and 8. 
• See Attachment A for descriptions of amended levels of effort. 

2. Change in Time of Performance:  

• Period of Performance is extended from September 30, 2023, to March 31, 2024. 

3. Change in CONSULTANT’s Compensation:  

• Change in total compensation. Not-to-exceed budget (NTE) is increased from $427,000 to 
$948,900. Total initial budget authorization in Change Order No. 4 is $310,000 (increasing the 
total NTE budget from $427,000 to $737,000) with $211,900 designated as optional (increasing 
the total NTE budget from $737,000 to $948,900). Use of the optional budget and completion of 
associated services requires written authorization by RWA. 
− Task 1: increased from $59,900 to $116,900. Initial budget authorization in Change Order No. 

4 is $40,000 (increasing the NTE budget from $59,900 to $99,900); $17,000 is optional 
(increasing the NTE budget from $99,900 to $116,900). 

− Task 2: increased from $104,500 to $129,500. Initial budget authorization in Change Order 
No. 4 is $0 (no increase to the NTE budget); $25,000 is optional (increasing the NTE budget 
from $104,500 to $129,500). 

− Task 3: increased from $45,000 to $175,000. Initial budget authorization in Change Order No. 
4 is $35,000 (increasing the NTE budget from $45,000 to $80,000); $95,000 is optional 
(increasing the NTE budget from $80,000 to $175,000). 

− Task 6: increased from $89,000 to $150,000. Initial budget authorization in Change Order No. 
4 is $61,000 (increasing the NTE budget from $89,000 to $150,000); $0 is optional (no 
increase to the NTE budget). 

− Task 7: increased from $62,800 to $286,700. Initial budget authorization in Change Order No. 
4 is $174,000 (increasing the NTE budget from $62,800 to $236,800); $49,900 is optional 
(increasing the NTE budget from $236,800 to $286,700). 

− Task 9: increased from $65,800 to $90,800. Initial budget authorization in Change Order No. 
4 is $0 (no increase to the NTE budget); $25,000 is optional (increasing the NTE budget from 
$65,800 to $90,800). 



 Page 2 

− No changes to Tasks 4, 5, and 8. 
• See Attachment B for revised task-by-task budgets. 

All other terms and conditions remain unchanged. 

 

 

CLIENT   CONSULTANT 

   

Signature  Signature 

  

Vanessa Nishikawa, Senior Principal 

Name (Printed or Typed)  Name (Printed or Typed) 

  

September 14, 2023 

Date  Date 

 



TO 22-02, Change Order No. 4 

 Page 3 

ATTACHMENT A 

SACRAMENTO REGIONAL WATER BANK DEVELOPMENT SUPPORT 

(CHANGE ORDER NO. 4) 

TASK 1: PROJECT MANAGEMENT AND COORDINATION 

Subtask 1.1: Project Management  

Increased level of effort due to Period of Performance extension through March 31, 2024. This subtask 
will not be completed during the current Period of Performance. 

Subtask 1.2: Project Team Coordination  

Increased level of effort to reflect (1) more frequent and longer project meetings, and (2) Period of 
Performance extension through March 31, 2024. This subtask will not be completed during the current 
Period of Performance. 

Deliverables: 

• Subtask 1.1: Additional monthly invoices with status reports. 
• Subtask 1.2: Additional meeting agendas and meeting summaries (as needed and directed by the 

RWA Project Manager). 

Budget: 

Task 1 Budget authorization increased from $59,900 to $116,900. 

TASK 2: PLAN FORMULATION 

Subtask 2.1: Planning Objectives, Constraints, and Criteria  

No change to Subtask 2.1. 

Subtask 2.2: Formulation of Alternatives 

No change to Subtask 2.2. 

Subtask 2.3: Evaluation and Comparison of Alternatives  

Initiate work under Subtask 2.3, as described in the original Task Order 22-02. This subtask will not be 
completed during the current Period of Performance. 

Subtask 2.4: Plan Formulation Appendix 

No change to Subtask 2.4 (not currently authorized). 

Deliverables: 

• Subtask 2.1: No change to the deliverables currently authorized. 
• Subtask 2.2: No change to the deliverables currently authorized. 
• Subtask 2.3: Deliverables authorized under Subtask 2.3 will be initiated as needed and as 

directed by the RWA Project Manager. These deliverables include agendas, materials, and 
summaries, as well as the administrative draft summary of Evaluation and Comparison of 
Alternatives. (As this Change Order includes initiation of work under Subtask 2.3 but not its 



TO 22-02, Change Order No. 4 

 Page 4 

completion, it is not anticipated that the administrative draft summary document would be initiated 
during the current Period of Performance.) 

• Subtask 2.4: No deliverables currently authorized. 

Budget: 

Task 2 Budget authorization increased from $104,500 to $129,500. 

TASK 3: MODELING SUPPORT 

Subtask 3.1: Alternative Analysis (CalSim) 

Increased level of effort to reflect continued coordination on and conduct of analytical evaluations (as 
described in the original Task Order 22-02 and amended in Change Orders No. 2 and 3) due to Period of 
Performance extension through March 31, 2024. This subtask will not be completed during the current 
Period of Performance. 

Subtask 3.2: Temperature and Water Quality Impact Analysis 

Initiate work under Subtask 3.2, as described in the original Task Order 22-02. This subtask will not be 
completed during the current Period of Performance. 

Subtask 3.3: Modeling Appendix 

No change to Subtask 3.3 (not currently authorized). 

Deliverables: 

• Subtask 3.1: Deliverables authorized under Subtask 3.1 will be initiated as needed and as 
directed by the RWA Project Manager. These deliverables include meeting agendas, materials, 
and summaries (as needed). 

• Subtask 3.2: Deliverables authorized under Subtask 3.2 will be initiated as needed and as 
directed by the RWA Project Manager. These deliverables include meeting agendas, materials, 
and summaries (as needed). 

• Subtask 3.3: No deliverables currently authorized. 

Budget: 

Task 3 Budget authorization increased from $45,000 to $175,000. 

TASK 4: ENGINEERING AND COST ESTIMATES 
No change to Task 4 (not currently authorized). 

TASK 5: ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
No change to Task 5 (not currently authorized). 

TASK 6: INSTITUTIONAL ARRANGEMENTS 

Subtask 6.1: Water Accounting System  

Increased level of effort to reflect anticipated work related to (1) additional meetings including preparation 
and conduct as well as related agendas, materials, and summaries; and (2) Period of Performance 
extension through March 2024. This subtask will not be completed during the current Period of 
Performance. 



TO 22-02, Change Order No. 4 

 Page 5 

Subtask 6.2: Water Bank Governance Structure  

Increased level of effort to reflect (1) additional meetings including preparation and conduct as well as 
related agendas, materials, and summaries; (2) development, support, and revision of additional Water 
Bank Governance white papers and related materials; and (3) Period of Performance extension through 
March 31, 2024. This subtask will not be completed during the current Period of Performance. 

Deliverables: 

• Subtask 6.1: White paper, TM, and other additional materials on the Water Accounting System 
(as directed by the RWA Project Manager). Additional meeting agendas, materials, and 
summaries (as needed and as directed by the RWA Project Manager). 

• Subtask 6.2: Additional white papers and related materials on the Water Bank Governance 
Structure (as directed by the RWA Project Manager). Additional meeting agendas, materials, and 
summaries (as needed and as directed by the RWA Project Manager). 

Budget: 

Task 6 Budget authorization increased from $89,000 to $150,000. 

TASK 7: ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE 

Subtask 7.1: Prepare Initial Study/Environmental Assessment, Prepare Notice of Preparation and 
Conduct Public Scoping 

Increased level of effort to reflect (1) anticipated work on the Subtask 7.1 effort, along with incorporation 
of information being developed under Subtasks 2.1, 2.2, 6.1, and 6.2 as well as ongoing Task 7 activities; 
and (2) Period of Performance extension through March 2024. This subtask will not be completed during 
the current Period of Performance. 

Subtask 7.2: Project Objectives, Purpose and Need, Proposed Project, and Study Area 

Increased level of effort to reflect (1) anticipated work on the Subtask 7.2 effort, along with incorporation 
of information being developed under Subtasks 2.1, 2.2, 6.1, and 6.2 as well as ongoing Task 7 activities; 
and (2) Period of Performance extension through March 2024. This subtask will not be completed during 
the current Period of Performance. 

Subtask 7.3: Proposed Alternatives Description 

Increased level of effort to reflect (1) anticipated work on the Subtask 7.3 effort, along with incorporation 
of information being developed under Subtasks 2.1, 2.2, 6.1, and 6.2 as well as ongoing Task 7 activities; 
and (2) Period of Performance extension through March 2024. This subtask will not be completed during 
the current Period of Performance. 

Subtask 7.4: Document Preparation – Environmental Conditions/Affected Environment, 
Environmental Impacts/Consequences, and Mitigation 

Initiate work under Subtask 7.4, as described in the original Task Order 22-02. This subtask will not be 
completed during the current Period of Performance. 

Subtask 7.5: Public Noticing and Notice of Determination 

No change to Subtask 7.5 (not currently authorized). 

Subtask 7.6: Administrative Record  

No change to Subtask 7.6 (not currently authorized). 



TO 22-02, Change Order No. 4 

 Page 6 

Subtask 7.7: Consultations & Coordination 

No change to Subtask 7.7 (not currently authorized). 

Deliverables: 

• Deliverables currently authorized under Subtasks 7.1, 7.2, and 7.3 will be initiated as needed and 
as directed by the RWA Project Manager. These deliverables include: 
− Administrative Draft and Draft IS/EA (Subtask 7.1) 
− Administrative Draft and Final Draft NOP and NOI (Subtask 7.1) 
− Draft and final press release (Subtask 7.1) 
− Materials for up to 2 scoping meetings such as power point presentations, meeting handouts, 

sign-in sheets, and posters (draft and final versions); also meeting summaries (draft and final 
versions) (Subtask 7.1) 

− Draft and Revised Draft summary document (scoping meetings and comments) (Subtask 7.1) 
− Draft Project Objectives, and Purpose and Need (Subtask 7.2) 
− Draft Project Description (Subtask 7.3) 
− Draft Project Alternatives Report (Subtask 7.3) 
Note that it is likely that some of these deliverables will not be initiated during the current Period 
of Performance. 

• Subtask 7.4: Administrative Draft, Public Draft, Administrative Draft Final, and Final 
environmental documentation (EIR/EIS). Deliverables will be initiated as needed and as directed 
by the RWA Project Manager. [Note: This Change Order includes initiation of work under Subtask 
7.4 but not its completion. Depending on progress made on the analyses under this subtask, the 
RWA Project Manager may not initiate preparation of any deliverables during the current Period 
of Performance.] 

• Subtasks 7.5, 7.6, and 7.7: No deliverables currently authorized. 

Budget: 

Task 7 Budget authorization decreased from $62,800 to $286,700. 

TASK 8: SRWB DEVELOPMENT REPORT 
No change to Task 8 (not currently authorized). 

TASK 9: STAKEHOLDER OUTREACH AND INVOLVEMENT 

Subtask 9.1: Communications and Outreach Plan 

No change to Subtask 9.1 (not currently authorized). 

Subtask 9.2: Stakeholder Engagement Activities 

Increased level of effort to reflect continued stakeholder engagement activities due to Period of 
Performance extension through March 31, 2024. This subtask will not be completed during the current 
Period of Performance. 

Subtask 9.3: Communication and Outreach Record 

No change to Subtask 9.3 (not currently authorized). 

Deliverables: 

• Subtask 9.1: No deliverables currently authorized. 
• Subtask 9.2: Additional stakeholder engagement support materials (as appropriate). 
• Subtask 9.3: No deliverables currently authorized. 



TO 22-02, Change Order No. 4 

 Page 7 

Budget: 

Task 3 Budget authorization increased from $65,800 to $90,800.



TO 22-02, Change Order No. 4 

 Page 8 

ATTACHMENT B – CONTRACT BUDGET 
The following table presents original level of effort and total cost for the Task Order 22-02; the levels of effort and costs for Change Orders 1, 2, 3, 
and 4; and the revised total cost. 

 
  

Le
ve

l 2
4

Le
ve

l 2
3

Le
ve

l 2
2

Le
ve

l 1
9

Le
ve

l 1
8

Le
ve

l 1
7

Le
ve

l 1
4

Le
ve

l 1
2

Le
ve

l 1
1

Le
ve

l 1
0

Le
ve

l 9

Le
ve

l 8

Le
ve

l 7

Le
ve

l 6

Le
ve

l 5

Le
ve

l 4

Le
ve

l 3 Total
Stantec 
Hours

TOTAL

Stantec 
Labor

Other

Travel & 
Other 
ODCs

TOTAL

ODCs
CY1 Hourly Rate[1]: $321 $310 $300 $260 $243 $229 $193 $178 $170 $162 $153 $145 $137 $130 $123 $116 $110 1.10$      
CY2 Hourly Rate[2]: $321 $310 $300 $260 $243 $229 $193 $178 $170 $162 $153 $145 $137 $130 $123 $116 $110
CY3 Hourly Rate[3]: $331 $319 $309 $268 $250 $236 $199 $183 $175 $167 $158 $149 $141 $134 $127 $119 $113
CY4 Hourly Rate[4]: $341 $329 $318 $276 $258 $243 $205 $188 $180 $172 $163 $153 $145 $138 $131 $123 $116

Task:
TASK ORDER 22-02
Task 1 : Project Management and 
Coordination

$41,852 $41,900

1.1: Project Management CY1 4 4 10 10 28 $4,910 $0 $0 $4,910 $7,200
CY2 1 2 6 5 14 $2,282 $0 $0 $2,282

1.2: Meetings & Coordination CY1 14 45 30 89 $22,700 $0 $0 $22,700 $34,700
CY2 14 20 10 44 $11,960 $0 $0 $11,960

Task 2: Plan Formulation $94,434 $94,500
2.1: Planning Objectives, Constraints, and 
Criteria

CY1 2 36 36 18 92 $22,296 $0 $0 $22,296 $44,800

CY2 2 30 18 60 110 $22,464 $0 $0 $22,464
2.2: Formulation of Alternatives CY1 2 30 30 30 92 $20,862 $0 $0 $20,862 $49,700

CY2 2 42 30 60 134 $28,812 $0 $0 $28,812
2.3: Evaluation and Comparison of 
Alternatives

CY2 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

2.4: Plan Formulation Appendix CY2 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Task 3: Modeling Support $0 $0

3.1: Alternative Analysis (CalSim) 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
3.2: Temperature and Water Quality Impact 
Analysis

0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

3.3: Modeling Appendix 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Task 4: Engineering and Cost Estimates $0 $0

4.1: Preliminary Design 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
4.2: Cost Estimating 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
4.3: Engineering Appendix 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Task 5: Economic and Financial Analysis $0 $0
5.1: Financial Analysis 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Task 6: Institutional Arrangements $78,001 $78,000
6.1: Water Accounting Framework CY1 33 54 87 $17,730 $0 $0 $17,730 $37,900

CY2 38 52 5 5 100 $20,205 $0 $0 $20,205
6.2: Water Bank Governance Structure CY1 36 36 72 $19,548 $0 $0 $19,548 $40,100

CY2 38 34 4 2 78 $20,442 $69 $76 $20,518
Task 7: Environmental Compliance 
(NEPA/CEQA)

$141,838 $141,800

7.1: Prepare Initial Study/Environmental 
Assessment, Prepare Notice of Preparation 
and Conduct Public Scoping

CY1 8 18 32 32 30 32 152 $28,004 $0 $0 $28,004 $81,600

CY2 12 30 77 54 58 60 291 $53,601 $0 $0 $53,601
7.2: Project Objectives, Purpose and Need, 
Proposed Project, and Study Area 

CY1 8 10 10 8 36 $9,066 $0 $0 $9,066 $20,400

CY2 4 14 14 12 4 2 50 $11,370 $0 $0 $11,370
7.3: Proposed Alternatives Description CY1 12 26 26 26 90 $21,686 $0 $0 $21,686 $39,800

CY2 10 20 20 20 7 2 79 $18,111 $0 $0 $18,111
7.4: Document Preparation - Environmental 
Conditions/Affected Environment, 
Environmental Impacts/Consequences, and 
Mitigation

0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

7.5: Public Noticing and Notice of 
Determination 

0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

7.6: Administrative Record 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
7.7: Consultations & Coordination 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Task 8: SRWB Development Report $0 $0
8.1: Administrative Draft Report 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
8.2: Draft Report 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
8.3: Final Report 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Task 9: Stakeholder Outreach and 
Involvement

$70,788 $70,800

9.1: Communications and Outreach Plan 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
9.2: Stakeholder Engagement Activities CY1 4 42 36 60 57 10 209 $39,939 $0 $0 $39,939 $70,800

CY2 3 30 25 50 50 9 167 $30,849 $0 $0 $30,849
9.3: Communication and Outreach Record 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

427,000$      

MODIFICATIONS IN CHANGE ORDER 01
Task 1 : Project Management and 
Coordination

$17,976 $18,000

1.1: Project Management CY2 4 12 19 12 47 $8,026 $0 $0 $8,026 $8,000
1.2: Meetings & Coordination CY2 11 16 14 41 $9,950 $0 $0 $9,950 $10,000

Task 2: Plan Formulation $10,000 $10,000
2.1: Planning Objectives, Constraints, and 
Criteria

CY2 18 17 35 $10,000 $0 $0 $10,000 $10,000

Task 6: Institutional Arrangements $20,990 $21,000
6.2: Water Bank Governance Structure CY2 26 36 21 83 $20,990 $0 $0 $20,990 $21,000

Task 7: Environmental Compliance 
(NEPA/CEQA)

-$49,040 -$49,000

7.1: Prepare Initial Study/Environmental 
Assessment, Prepare Notice of Preparation 
and Conduct Public Scoping

CY2 -6 -14 -24 -24 -24 -24 -116 -$21,348 $0 $0 -$21,348 -$21,300

7.2: Project Objectives, Purpose and Need, 
Proposed Project, and Study Area 

CY2 -8 -10 -10 -10 -$9,390 $0 $0 -$9,390 -$9,400

7.3: Proposed Alternatives Description CY2 -10 -22 -22 -22 -76 -$18,302 $0 $0 -$18,302 -$18,300
-$               

MODIFICATIONS IN CHANGE ORDER 02
Task 3: Modeling Support $25,020 $25,000

3.1: Alternative Analysis (CalSim) CY2 40 100 0 140 $25,020 $0 $0 $25,020 $25,000
Task 7: Environmental Compliance 
(NEPA/CEQA)

-$24,915 -$25,000

7.1: Prepare Initial Study/Environmental 
Assessment, Prepare Notice of Preparation 
and Conduct Public Scoping

CY2 -6 -12 -22 -22 -24 -24 -110 -$19,966 $0 $0 -$19,966 -$20,000

7.2: Project Objectives, Purpose and Need, 
Proposed Project, and Study Area 

CY2 -5 -5 -10 -$1,955 $0 $0 -$1,955 -$2,000

7.3: Proposed Alternatives Description CY2 -6 -10 -16 -$2,994 $0 $0 -$2,994 -$3,000
-$               

MODIFICATIONS IN CHANGE ORDER 03
Task 3: Modeling Support $19,958 $20,000

3.1: Alternative Analysis (CalSim) CY2 58 66 124 $19,958 $0 $0 $19,958 $20,000
Task 6: Institutional Arrangements -$10,040 -$10,000

6.1: Water Accounting Framework CY2 -24 -24 -$7,440 $0 $0 -$7,440 -$7,400
6.2: Water Bank Governance Structure CY2 -10 -10 -$2,600 $0 $0 -$2,600 -$2,600

Task 7: Environmental Compliance 
(NEPA/CEQA)

-$4,956 -$5,000

7.1: Prepare Initial Study/Environmental 
Assessment, Prepare Notice of Preparation 
and Conduct Public Scoping

CY2 -6 -6 -12 -$2,478 $0 $0 -$2,478 -$2,500

7.2: Project Objectives, Purpose and Need, 
Proposed Project, and Study Area 

CY2 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

7.3: Proposed Alternatives Description CY2 -6 -6 -12 -$2,478 $0 $0 -$2,478 -$2,500
Task 9: Stakeholder Outreach and 
Involvement

-$4,956 -$5,000

9.2: Stakeholder Engagement Activities CY2 -12 -12 -24 -$4,956 $0 $0 -$4,956 -$5,000

-$               

GRAND 
TOTAL

(by task and 

GRAND 
TOTAL

(ROUNDED)

Stantec Labor Other Direct 



TO 22-02, Change Order No. 4 

 Page 9 

 

Le
ve

l 2
4

Le
ve

l 2
3

Le
ve

l 2
2

Le
ve

l 1
9

Le
ve

l 1
8

Le
ve

l 1
7

Le
ve

l 1
4

Le
ve

l 1
2

Le
ve

l 1
1

Le
ve

l 1
0

Le
ve

l 9

Le
ve

l 8

Le
ve

l 7

Le
ve

l 6

Le
ve

l 5

Le
ve

l 4

Le
ve

l 3 Total
Stantec 
Hours

TOTAL

Stantec 
Labor

Other

Travel & 
Other 
ODCs

TOTAL

ODCs
CY1 Hourly Rate[1]: $321 $310 $300 $260 $243 $229 $193 $178 $170 $162 $153 $145 $137 $130 $123 $116 $110 1.10$      
CY2 Hourly Rate[2]: $321 $310 $300 $260 $243 $229 $193 $178 $170 $162 $153 $145 $137 $130 $123 $116 $110
CY3 Hourly Rate[3]: $331 $319 $309 $268 $250 $236 $199 $183 $175 $167 $158 $149 $141 $134 $127 $119 $113
CY4 Hourly Rate[4]: $341 $329 $318 $276 $258 $243 $205 $188 $180 $172 $163 $153 $145 $138 $131 $123 $116

MODIFICATIONS IN CHANGE ORDER 04
Task 1 : Project Management and 
Coordination

$56,905 $57,000

1.1: Project Management CY2 8 12 18 38 $7,712 $0 $0 $7,712 $14,000
CY3 6 10 14 30 $6,242 $0 $0 $6,242

1.2: Meetings & Coordination CY2 42 26 10 78 $21,038 $0 $0 $21,038 $43,000
CY3 42 26 11 79 $21,823 $0 $90 $21,913

Task 2: Plan Formulation $24,988 $25,000
2.3: Evaluation and Comparison of 
Alternatives

CY2 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $25,000

CY3 20 20 26 40 40 146 $24,988 $0 $0 $24,988
Task 3: Modeling Support $129,965 $130,000

3.1: Alternative Analysis (CalSim) CY2 12 11 60 56 60 48 247 $39,621 $0 $0 $39,621 $80,000
CY3 10 10 60 56 60 51 247 $40,332 $0 $0 $40,332

3.2: Temperature and Water Quality Impact 
Analysis

CY3 6 8 80 80 138 312 $50,012 $0 $0 $50,012 $50,000

Task 6: Institutional Arrangements $61,015 $61,000
6.1: Water Accounting Framework CY2 42 20 22 84 $19,434 $0 $0 $19,434 $42,400

CY3 47 24 26 97 $22,859 $90 $99 $22,958
6.2: Water Bank Governance Structure CY2 8 30 38 $10,280 $90 $99 $10,379 $18,600

CY3 4 26 30 $8,244 $0 $0 $8,244
Task 7: Environmental Compliance 
(NEPA/CEQA)

$223,956 $223,900

7.1: Prepare Initial Study/Environmental 
Assessment, Prepare Notice of Preparation 
and Conduct Public Scoping

CY2 16 76 10 12 40 41 195 $37,774 $90 $99 $37,873 $56,600

CY3 8 18 4 7 36 36 109 $18,758 $0 $0 $18,758
7.2: Project Objectives, Purpose and Need, 
Proposed Project, and Study Area 

CY2 10 22 15 47 $10,741 $90 $99 $10,840 $14,100

CY3 2 8 4 14 $3,270 $0 $0 $3,270
7.3: Proposed Alternatives Description CY2 24 46 11 81 $20,488 $0 $0 $20,488 $28,200

CY3 8 18 4 30 $7,752 $0 $0 $7,752
7.4: Document Preparation - Environmental 
Conditions/Affected Environment, 
Environmental Impacts/Consequences, and 
Mitigation

CY2 16 38 60 16 80 80 290 $48,202 $0 $0 $48,202 $125,000

CY3 20 75 80 16 135 120 446 $76,773 $0 $0 $76,773
Task 9: Stakeholder Outreach and 
Involvement

$24,974 $25,000

9.2: Stakeholder Engagement Activities CY3 8 34 12 64 118 $24,776 $180 $198 $24,974 $25,000

521,900$      

AMENDED TASK ORDER 22-02 (INCLUSIVE OF CHANGE ORDERS 01, 02, 03, AND 04)
Task 1 : Project Management and 
Coordination

$116,900

1.1: Project Management $29,200
1.2: Meetings & Coordination $87,700

Task 2: Plan Formulation $129,500
2.1: Planning Objectives, Constraints, and 
Criteria

$54,800

2.2: Formulation of Alternatives $49,700
2.3: Evaluation and Comparison of 
Alternatives

$25,000

2.4: Plan Formulation Appendix $0
Task 3: Modeling Support $175,000

3.1: Alternative Analysis (CalSim) $125,000
3.2: Temperature and Water Quality Impact 
Analysis

$50,000

3.3: Modeling Appendix $0
Task 4: Engineering and Cost Estimates $0

4.1: Preliminary Design $0
4.2: Cost Estimating $0
4.3: Engineering Appendix $0

Task 5: Economic and Financial Analysis $0
5.1: Financial Analysis $0

Task 6: Institutional Arrangements $150,000
6.1: Water Accounting Framework $72,900
6.2: Water Bank Governance Structure $77,100

Task 7: Environmental Compliance 
(NEPA/CEQA)

$286,700

7.1: Prepare Initial Study/Environmental 
Assessment, Prepare Notice of Preparation 
and Conduct Public Scoping

$94,400

7.2: Project Objectives, Purpose and Need, 
Proposed Project, and Study Area 

$23,100

7.3: Proposed Alternatives Description $44,200
7.4: Document Preparation - Environmental 
Conditions/Affected Environment, 
Environmental Impacts/Consequences, and 
Mitigation

$125,000

7.5: Public Noticing and Notice of 
Determination 

$0

7.6: Administrative Record $0
7.7: Consultations & Coordination $0

Task 8: SRWB Development Report $0
8.1: Administrative Draft Report $0
8.2: Draft Report $0
8.3: Final Report $0

Task 9: Stakeholder Outreach and 
Involvement

$90,800

9.1: Communications and Outreach Plan $0
9.2: Stakeholder Engagement Activities $90,800
9.3: Communication and Outreach Record $0

[1] CY1 = Jan 2022 - Dec 2022 948,900$      
[2] CY2 = Jan 2023 - Dec 2023
[3] CY3 = Jan 2024 - Dec 2024
[4] CY4 = Jan 2025 - Dec 2025

GRAND 
TOTAL

(by task and 

GRAND 
TOTAL

(ROUNDED)

Stantec Labor Other Direct 



Agenda Item 3.3 

 

 
Regional Water Authority – Board of Directors 
September 14, 2023 
Regular Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 3.3 
Page 1 of 2 

  

 
 

Topic: Approve Task Order #2 with Khadam Consulting Inc. 
Type: Consent Calendar 
Item For: Action; Approve and authorize the Executive Director to execute Task Order #2 
Purpose: RWA Policy 300.2 

 
 
SUBMITTED BY: 

Trevor Joseph,  
Manager of Technical 
Services 

 
PRESENTER: 

Trevor Joseph,  
Manager of Technical 
Services 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This is an action item for the Regional Water Authority’s Board of Directors to review and consider 
recommending approval of Task Order #2 in the amount of $150,000 with Khadam Consulting Inc. 
for additional technical support for continued development of the Sacramento Regional Water 
Bank and authorize the Executive Director to execute Task Order #2 in the above referenced 
amount. 
 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE RECOMMENDED ACTION 
Approve and authorize the Executive Director to execute Task Order #2 in the amount of $150,000 
with Khadam Consulting Inc for additional technical support for continued development of the 
Sacramento Regional Water Bank.  

 
 

BACKGROUND 
At the December 2022 Executive Committee meeting, the Executive Committee took an action to 
Authorize the Executive Director to enter into a Professional Services Agreement with Khadam 
Consulting Inc. in the amount of $103,750 for technical support (Task Order T01) of RWA’s 
development of the Sacramento Regional Water Bank (SRWB) and to waive the competitive 
bidding process in RWA Policy 300.2 for the selection of Khadam Consulting, Inc.  
 
With respect to the waiving the competitive bidding process, the staff report for the Executive 
Committee meeting in December 2022 identified: 
 
“Mr. Khadam has an extensive background and working knowledge of the SRWB. Specifically, Mr. 
Khadam lead the technical analysis of the 2019 Regional Water Reliability Plan, a foundational 
document for the development of the SRWB and currently leads the Water Management Operations 
Pilot (WMOPs) effort with the USBR to define the operational bookends on conjunctive use 
expansion consistent with the SRWB. Mr. Khadam’s participation in the SRWB Program Agreement 
is critical to the success of the program. Mr. Khadam is the only consultant capable of meeting the 
needs of the SRWB Program Agreement in this regard, so it would not benefit RWA or its members 
to undergo the competitive award process otherwise required by RWA Policy 300.2.” 



Agenda Item 3.3 

 

 
Regional Water Authority – Board of Directors 
September 14, 2023 
Regular Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 3.3 
Page 2 of 2 

  

 
Policy 200.2 delegates authority to the Executive Committee to approve, authorize and administer 
contracts for expenditures within the RWA-approved budget, provided that the amount of any 
such contract (or the combination of contracts for the same program or project) will not exceed 
$150,000.  Task Order #2 is the first change order that would increase the not to exceed amount 
$150,000, taking the total budget with Khadam Consulting Inc. from $103,750 to $253,750.  
Approval of this amount requires Board approval. 
 
Task Order #2 provides compensation for the following tasks as follows: 

• Task 1 - Project Management and Coordination (9/1/2023 - 12/31/2024): $19,760 
• Task 6 – Institutional Arrangements: $67,640 
• Task 7 – Environmental Compliance: $62,600. 

 
FINDING/CONCLUSION 
Staff is requesting additional consulting support for the further development of the Sacramento 
Regional Water Bank.  Khadam Consulting Inc. technical support is critical to the success of the 
SRWB. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment 1 - Professional Services Agreement and Task Order #1 with Khadam Consulting Inc. 
Attachment 2 - Task Order #2 with Khadam Consulting Inc. 

























Page 1 of 2 
 

Technical Support for the Sacramento Regional Water Bank Conceptualization, 
Definition, Evaluation, and Formalization 

 
Proposed Task Order No. 2 
The tasks below outline the proposed work to be completed under Task Order No.2 by Khadam 
Consulting Inc. in support of the Regional Water Authority (RWA) development of the Sacramento Region 
Water Bank (SWB). 

Task 2 – Project Management and Coordination  
The Consultant will support the coordination activities necessary for successful development of the 
SRWB. These activities include ensuring strategic alignment with the objectives of the SRWB, consistent 
approach on the technical studies, environmental analysis, and messaging for stakeholders and partners 
engagement. The Consultant is anticipated participate in the following meetings for the period 
September 1, 2023, through December 31, 2024: 

• Water Bank Program Committee meeting – 1 each quarter. 

• Water Bank Technical Group and other Ad-hoc meetings – 1 each month. 

• Technical and planning coordination calls/meetings – 2 each week.  

• Partners engagement meetings – 1 every 2 months. 

Deliverables 

• Monthly invoices with status reports (electronic format) 

• Meeting agendas and meeting summaries (electronic format) 

Task 6 - Institutional Arrangements 
The Consultant will support RWA and its members decision-making on evaluating and implementing the 
most appropriate institutional arrangements for the SRWB governance and management.  These 
institutional arrangements will include: 

• The Water Accounting Framework, which will establish a set of policies and procedures to 
encourage and support conjunctive use operations to facilitate the long‐term sustainability of the 
underlying groundwater basin as source of public water supply.  

• The Water Bank Governance Structure, which will formalize the operational and management 
protocols and roles and responsibilities for coordination of banking activities, finance, conflict 
resolution, and engagement with partners.  

Deliverables  

• Draft and Final Water Accounting Framework TM 

• Draft and Final Water Bank Governance Framework TM 

Task 7 - Environmental Compliance 
The development of the Environmental Compliance documentation, including managing scoping and 
public notices, and consultation and coordination will resource agencies will be conducted by others 
under separate contract with RWA. 

The Consultant will support RWA’s coordination of the environmental impact analysis to ensure alignment 
with the strategic intent of the SRWB. The Consultant will assist in developing the approach and strategy 
for the environmental impact analysis, participate in the review of the draft environmental report sections 
and appendices. The Consultant may also support the consultation and coordination with resource 
agencies, as requested by RWA. 



Page 2 of 2 
 

Deliverables  

• Review of Draft and Final EIR sections and appendices 

 

Task Order No. 2  
TASK   
Task 1 - Project Management and Coordination (9/1/2023 - 12/31/2024)  $    19,760  

Task 6 - Institutional Arrangements  $    67,640  

Task 7 - Environmental Compliance  $    62,600  

TOTAL  $ 150,000  
 

Signatures 
 

Regional Water Authority: 

 

 

 

By: ____________________________________   Dated: ___________________ 

 [Name]  

[Title] 

Khadam Consulting Inc.: 

 

 

 

By: ____________________________________   Dated: ___________________ 

Ibrahim Khadam 

President 



Agenda Item 4.0 

 

 
Regional Water Authority  
September 14, 2023 
Regular Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 4 
Page 1 of 2 

  

 
 

Topic: New Members 
Type: Action Item 
Item For: Action; Motion to Approve Admission as Affiliate Member 
Purpose: Routine; Fiscal/Budget; RWA Policy 100.6 

 
 

 
SUBMITTED BY: 

Ashley Flores, CMC 
Secretary 

 
PRESENTER: 

Jim Peifer,  
Executive Director 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This is an action item for the approval by the Regional Water Authority Board of Directors of the 
admission of new members to the Regional Water Authority resulting in new annualized 
contributions of $800.00. 
 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE RECOMMEND ACTION: 
Approve the admission of Wood Rodgers, Inc. as an Affiliate member.  
 
  
BACKGROUND 
The Executive Committee at their last meeting on August 22, 2023 passed a motion to recommend 
approval to the Regional Water Authority (RWA) Board of Directors of the admission of Wood 
Rodgers, Inc. as an Affiliate member.  RWA Policy 100.6 (RWA Affiliates) governs the admission of 
affiliate members.  An affirmative vote of two thirds of the members is required for Wood 
Rodgers, Inc. to become a member. 
 
Entities eligible to become RWA Affiliate Members include public or private entities with an 
interest and management role in regional water matters that are not eligible for other classes of 
membership in RWA. The purpose of the Affiliate relationship is to promote communication 
between water managers and the community and to support RWA’s efforts to educate and inform 
the public. 
 
Entities that may become Affiliates include, but are not limited to Cities and Counties that are not 
water providers; special districts that are not water providers, such as park, cemetery or fire 
districts; trade associations; chambers of commerce; businesses and institutions that are major 
water users; and entities that provide services to water providers. 
 
Agencies or water utilities that deliver potable retail or wholesale water in this region are not 
eligible to become RWA Affiliates, as these agencies are eligible to become RWA Members or 
Contracting Entities. Agencies or entities with other water management authorities are not eligible 
to become RWA Affiliates, as these agencies are eligible to become RWA Associate Members. 

https://rwah2o.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/100-6-RWA-Affiliiate-members.pdf


Agenda Item 4.0 

 

 
Regional Water Authority  
September 14, 2023 
Regular Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 4 
Page 2 of 2 

  

 
Each entity that applies to become an RWA Affiliate must be approved by a two thirds majority 
vote of the RWA Board of Directors. Board approval will be dependent on a demonstration that 
the Affiliate member will provide support to the mission and goals of RWA. RWA Affiliates do not 
hold a seat on the RWA. 
 
Board, and therefore are not eligible to vote on RWA Board business or policy matters, including 
legislative/policy issues under Section 7(a) of the RWA joint powers agreement. RWA Affiliates pay 
an annual fee $800 per year, which will be subject to adjustment from time to time by the RWA 
Board. RWA Affiliates are not eligible to participate directly in RWA subscription programs. 
 
FINDING/CONCLUSION 
Wood Rodgers Inc. has expressed interest in becoming an Affiliate member. As an Affiliate 
Member, they intend to support RWA through our specialized expertise, increased engagement 
with fellow members, and our advocacy in support of the RWA vision. Staff recommends the 
admittance of Wood Rodgers, Inc. as an Affiliate member. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment 1- Supporting Letter from Wood Rodgers Inc. dated August 11, 2023 



 

 

3301 C Street, Bldg 100-B •  Sacramento, CA 95816 •  Tel: 916.341.7760 
Offices located in California and Nevada 

www.woodrodgers.com 

 
 
Josette Reina-Luken 
Regional Water Authority 
2295 Gateway Oaks Drive, Suite 100 
Sacramento, CA 95833 
 
Subject: RWA Affiliate Membership 
 
Dear Ms. Reina-Luken and members of the Executive Committee and Board of Directors, 
 
Wood Rodgers has enjoyed our continued engagement with the Regional Water Authority and Sacramento 
Groundwater Authority and commends your efforts in improving our region’s water supply. Over the last 20 years, 
Wood Rodgers has provided full-service groundwater resources analysis and water supply design to agencies and 
municipalities throughout Northern California and values the relationships we’ve built with many of RWA’s members 
and associates. We are passionate about the issues affecting our region’s water supply, which is why we want to 
expand our involvement with RWA through an Affiliate Membership. We have provided our responses to the 
application questionnaire below: 
 

• Name of Organization: Wood Rodgers, Inc. 
• Geographic Scope: California and Nevada  
• Nature of Organization: California Corporation 
• Mission: Our mission is to provide our clients with exceptional service and provide lasting value to society as 

a whole in the work we do. 
• Water Management Interests in the Sacramento Region: Wood Rodgers has been an integral partner in 

the growth and development of the greater Sacramento Region over the past 27+ years, including developing 
and protecting our region’s water resources. We are passionate about the region in which we live, work and 
play. Wood Rodgers will continue to utilize our local hydrogeologic and water supply expertise in support of a 
sustainable environment, healthy communities, and water supply reliability and resilience.  

• Mutual Benefits of Affiliate Membership: As an Affiliate Member, Wood Rodgers intends to support RWA 
through our specialized expertise, increased engagement with fellow members, and our advocacy in support 
of your vision. 
 

We appreciate your consideration and look forward to the opportunity to become an Affiliate Member. 
 
Regards, 
 
 
Kevin Gustorf, PE 
Vice President 
(916) 341-7425 
kgustorf@woodrodgers.com 

 
Sean Spaeth, PG, CHG 
Associate, Senior Hydrogeologist 
(916) 326-5368 
sspaeth@woodrodgers.com 

 



Agenda Item 5 

 

Regional Water Authority  
September 14, 2023 
Regular Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 5 
Page 1 of 2 

  

 
 

Topic: Employee Supplemental Benefits  
Type: New Business 
Item For: Action/Discussion 
Purpose: RWA Policy 400.2 

 
 
 

 
SUBMITTED BY: 

Josette Reina-Luken  
Finance & Administrative 
Services Manager 

 
PRESENTER: 

Josette Reina-Luken 
Finance & Administrative 
Services Manager 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This is an action item for the Regional Water Authority Board of Director’s to approve the 
Executive Committee’s Recommendation to establish a medical Flexible Spending Account (FSA), 
Health Savings Account (HSA), and Dependent Care FSA provider for RWA employees. 
 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve Total Administrative Services Corporation (TASC) to be the provider for an RWA employee 
FSA, HSA, and dependent care benefits program beginning January 1, 2024 and authorize the 
Executive Director to change Personnel Rules Appendix G to incorporate these changes under legal 
counsel guidance. 

 
 

BACKGROUND 
At the July 25, 2023 Executive Committee Meeting, the Executive Director introduced the concept 
of providing an optional Flexible Spending account for staff in order for them to take advantage of 
pre-tax payroll deductions to cover eligible medical and daycare expenses.  The Executive Director 
identified the need to continue to provide a competitive benefits package to retain employees.  
The Executive Committee was supportive in pursuing this supplemental benefits option.  As a 
result of the staff’s inquiries to various recommended providers, the chart below outlines the 
administrative cost from four solicited agencies that would be incurred and shared by RWA, RWA 
subscription programs (CIMS and WEP), and Sacramento Groundwater Authority (SGA) to 
implement this benefit service as applicable.   
 

PROVIDER ANNUAL FEE MONTHLY MINIMUM 
(UP TO 10 STAFF) 

TOTAL ANNUAL 
COST 

Optum Healthcare Solutions 
(OPTUM) 

$200 Per Year $150 Monthly $2000 

Total Administrative Services 
Corporation (TASC) 

$400 Per Year $75 Monthly $1300 

NAVIA Benefits Solution  
(NAVIA) 

$0 Per Year $200 Monthly $2400 

Benefit Coordinator’s Non-Responsive Non-Responsive after 3 Non-Responsive after 

https://rwah2o.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/400.2-Compensation-Policy.pdf


Agenda Item 5 

 

Regional Water Authority  
September 14, 2023 
Regular Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 5 
Page 2 of 2 

  

Compensation (BCC) after 3 attempts attempts 3 attempts 
 
FINDING/CONCLUSION 
Based on the price comparison, TASC is the least expensive provider and offers up to four health 
benefit account options for this price including Flexible Spending Account (FSA) to be used in a 
given calendar year timeframe; Health Savings Account (HSA) that is a year-to-year roll-over 
savings account for those who are enrolled in a high deductible care plan and not participating in 
an FSA; and Dependent Care FSA which provides annual daycare expense reimbursement (up to 
$5000 maximum) for dependents up to the age of 13.  Flexible and health savings accounts can 
cover qualified medical expenses for staff, their spouse/domestic partner, and dependents (up to 
the age of 26) in accordance with IRS determined maximum limits.  RWA will have available a 
potential fourth benefit package option that they can choose at a later time at no additional cost.  
Future, additional benefit packages available can be either employee or employer funded options.  
However, only employee funded packages are being considered at this time. 
 
TASC is a well-known organization within the employee benefits management space.  TASC has 
over 45 years of experience in benefits administration with more than 72,000 clients including the 
federal government, Special District Risk Management Authority, and Placer County Transportation 
Planning Agency.  Some of the RWA staff members have previous and positive experience using 
TASC services.  TASC provides easy access to view and manage employee accounts and 
reimbursement approval processes through their web portal, mobile app, and/or debit card 
devices with most reimbursement requests being approved within 24 hours or less. 
 
If the RWA Board of Directors approves the establishment of an FSA, HSA, and Dependent Care 
Program with TASC as the selected provider, then this benefit will begin in the 2024 calendar year 
in conjunction with the upcoming open-enrollment period.  Additionally, the Board approves 
authorizing the Executive Director to make the necessary changes to the Personnel Rules Appendix 
G, Employee Health Benefits, under legal counsel guidance to reflect this additional offering.   
 
This item supports RWA Policy 400.2 Compensation Policy which states, “the compensation 
practices of the Authority will be competitive within the industry and geographical area to attract 
the most qualified candidates and to minimize turnover of its employees.” 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment 1- TASC Proposal  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Regional Water Authority 

07/27/2023 

 

Josette Reina-Luken 

Craig Robinson | Direct Sales Director 

Total Administrative Services Corporation 

E-mail: craig.robinson@tasconline.com 

Phone: (608) 268-8841 

 



  

 

 

2

    

 

WHY TASC 
 

It started with a desire to help a friend. 

Total Administrative Services Corporation (TASC) was founded on a simple belief: regular 

people should be able to receive the same tax advantages as large corporations.  

 

In the process, we brought simplicity to one of the most complicated systems in the world: the 

US tax code. The solution worked so well, we continued to invent products that transformed 

the lives of farmers and other entrepreneurs, their families, and their communities. And we’re 

still in the life-changing business for employers of all sizes, in all markets, today.  

 

After more than 45 years in the benefit administration industry, our conviction is stronger than 

ever. We’ve discovered a new way to remove complexity, a new way to help Americans pay less 

tax and invest more in their health and prosperity.  

 

We are committed to understanding our clients’ needs and ambitions and will configure a 

solution, whether they have one employee or one million. Because when Americans have more 

money to spend, when they invest in their health, when they have the tools to support their 

families, when they give back to their communities, when they save and grow, we all benefit.  

 

 

 

We’re proud to help more than 72,000 organizations offer benefit accounts to millions of 

their employees all across the US. That’s a lot of money saved, a lot of people helped, and 

a lot of good to share. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

72,000 

Clients 
across the 

United States 

$2.7 

Billion 
in funds handled 

annually 

$30 

Billion 
saved in taxes by 

TASC clients and 

participants 

$1 Million 
donated to charity 

by TASC and its 

employees in last 

year 



  

 

 

3

    

 

Introducing NEW MyTASC 

 

Our customers asked for it, and we delivered it! 

 

New MyTASC is a single sign-on platform that combines our Continuation Services (COBRA) with 

our Universal Benefit Accounts (UBA) accounts. This smart solution offers an “endless aisle” 

option to meet your evolving business needs. Not only does it provide ease to the employer, 

but it is also employee centric. It allows the employee to respond to and manage diverse needs 

of the workforce at any life stage and throughout all phases of the employment life cycle. 

 

With TASC New MyTASC, Employers Can Now…  

 

1. Build a Benefit Plan to 

Meet Your Unique Needs: 

Have the flexibility to customize benefit offerings that meets 

unique and evolving workforce needs. 

2. Remove Complexity: Make it easy to reap maximum tax savings and navigate benefit 

rules and regulations. 

3. Save Time and Money Manage all benefits with one card, one website, one app – an 

all-access pass to maximize efficiency and value. 

 

 

Single Sign-On with Access to Everything. Your UBA benefit plan and continuation 

accounts within one experience means no more toggling between systems! 

Better, More Responsive Service. Integration of all systems makes service requests 

easier and allows those requests to funnel into one customer service flow. Making 

administration straight-forward and response times more palatable. 

 

Participants Pay Their Way. Participants can use TASC Card or any other major 

credit/debit card for premium payments, set up auto-pay or choose to print and 

send coupons with check via mail - and they can do it "on the go" through the app!  

Integrated Web-based & Mobile Participant Experience. All accounts are 

accessible in ways that work for the participant.  

Industry-Leading Security. 24-hour back-up and 30-day back-up storage from 

ransomware; Role-based and Biometric security across all offerings. 

 

 

 



  

 

 

4

    

 

WHY UNIVERSAL BENEFIT ACCOUNT® 
 

Take pride in choosing a groundbreaking benefits solution that returns value to your company. 

 

For most employers, benefit accounts are separate, based on no single vendor having a total 

comprehensive solution. In fact, most employers still use ‘siloed’ platforms 

today with separate vendors, separate systems and processes, separate 

cards to pay with, separate websites and logins, and separate passwords to 

remember. That’s no fun! 

 

TASC decided to take a different approach. A single way to focus on the 

universal outcome that all benefit accounts share: easy accessto your 

accounts with the technology that life demands! 

 

Thus, the Universal Benefit Account (UBA) system was born. 

 

This forward-thinking approach will set you apart and give you access to 

features that matter:  

 
� Attract and retain top talent. Show employees you care with a benefits 

experience built around their needs. Easily build a benefit plan that sets 

you apart in the marketplace. Choose from FSA, HSA, HRA and over 50 

other benefits, all on one instantly configurable platform. 

 
� Simplify administration. When a regulation changes or your needs evolve, there are no new 

contracts to sign or employee data to recapture. Simply turn on a new benefit that is 

seamlessly integrated into our platform. 

 

� Confidence in a trusted partner. Our solution and commitment is backed by over 45 years of 

industry experience. We invest in you because we know how important your investment is to 

your business and employees. 

 

But don’t take our word for it, check out what some TASC clients have to say about their UBA 

experience! 

 
“TASC Healthcare and Dependent Care FSA is very helpful to our employees so they use less of their 

disposable income and save money on their medical and childcare expenses. I love the mobile app. It is 

super easy to use and the information you need is always quick and easily accessible.” 

 

“It’s easy to use, there are several easy options to get reimbursed, and the online system is rather user-

friendly. Customer service is great, and having used it over several years I highly recommend it as an FSA 

plan.” 

 
1  Society for Human Resource Management Employee Benefits Survey; March 2018 
2 MetLife Employee Benefit Trends; 2021 

83% 
say a seamless 

experience across  

all devices is 

important 1 

 

93% 
say benefit 

customization is a 

“must have” or “nice 

to have” feature 2 



  

 

 

5

    

 

WHAT SETS US APART FROM THE OTHERS... 
 

Our commitment to excellence and innovation extends far beyond the clients we serve.  

 

We help organizations of all sizes focus more on employees and culture and less on 

administrative tasks. We listen to employers and their employees and respond with 

innovative solutions that integrate technology, tailored customer service, and quick, 

transparent processing. No matter how the industry changes or your needs evolve, we’ll be 

here to listen and grow alongside you. 

 

Robust Service Offerings: From Universal Benefit Account, to Continuation, to 

Compliance– we have you covered! 

 

 

Best-In-Class Onboarding: Every new TASC client receives an Implementation Call 

to ensure a quicker, easier, and more accurate implementation of their benefit 

and compliance programs with TASC. 

 

 

Endless Aisle: The endless aisle showcases the power of Universal Benefit 

Account. With 50+ existing accounts, TASC will always be positioned to stand up 

an infinite number of accounts based on client, market, or legislative needs. 

 

 

Audit Guarantee: Our Audit Guarantee gives our clients and distributors peace of 

mind knowing TASC stands behind our offering and will support our client in the 

event of an audit. 

 

 

Fastest Access to Funds: MyCash is the fastest reimbursement model in the 

benefit administration industry and reimburses participants within hours of their 

claims submission and approval. 

 

 

Access to Plan Advisors: Current UBA clients will have access to an advisor, who 

can help you plan, select and tackle important employee benefit account 

decisions as your business evolves. 

 

 

Participants Save with Beneshop: Beneshop makes shopping for healthcare 

products easier and more affordable. Your participants can shop FSA/HSA eligible 

items on Beneshop from their mobile app all while saving more money! 



  

 

 

6

    

 

ONE EXPERIENCE 

 

Universal Benefit Account delivers a single, consistent, intuitive experience across all devices 

and services, for HR and employees alike. 

 

Imagine the time and money savings by integrating all the benefit accounts on one platform. 

Self-service tools across an intuitive employee digital experience also help replace calls to HR 

and drives engagement.  

 

ONE Web Portal 

� One-stop, online access to all enrolled accounts. 

� Help is a click or call away. Get the support you need, 

anytime and anywhere!  

� Easily preform routine functions on-demand like add, 

enroll and terminate employees in a benefit plan. 

� Access to robust reporting! Clients can access reports 

on enrollment, funding, participant balance summary, and 

month-end statement suite! 

� EDI feeds from a variety of systems. Simplify 

enrollment, eligibility management, and payroll deductions. 

 

ONE Mobile App 

� No need for a shoe-box full of receipts. Keep them in one convenient 

place with Receipt Repository. 

� Stay informed on where and how your benefit dollars are being used 

with Alerts. 

� Take a picture of your bill and submit. We’ll pay it with the Picture to 

Pay the Provider feature on the app. 

� Easy 24/7 secure access to benefit information with One Password or 

Fingerprint Touch ID. 

� Lost or misplaced your TASC Card? Use your app to quickly and easily 

lock or unlock access with TASC Card Lock. 

 

 

ONE Card 

� Pay for expenses out-of-pocket and we reimburse you within 24 hours. 

� The TASC Wallet is for all your benefits. Swipe your card and its smart 

enough to know which accounts to draw funds from automatically, for 

qualified and other expenses. 

� Use your TASC card to get access to MyCash with ATM Locator. 

 

 



  

 

 

7

    

 

THINK BEYOND TRADITIONAL BENEFITS 
 

With Universal Benefit Account®, choose from a growing list or Endless Aisle of health, wealth 

and well-being benefit accounts to configure a custom benefit plan that meets the unique 

needs of prospective hires and current employees, by recognizing their individuality and 

meeting them where they are in life. 

 

Focus on what matters most, creating a unique benefit plan your employees will love!  

 

1. Begin by setting yourself apart from the competition with fringe benefits, accounts 

that reimburse employees for expenses associated with raising a family, commuting and 

doing their job: dependent care, transit, pet care, and home office supplies. Fringe 

accounts help you stand out to job seekers who are considering your company. 

 

2. Next, consider wellness, education and giving accounts that reward healthy living, 

higher education and a philanthropical heart. These accounts create a positive culture, 

showing you care about your employees and have their best interests in mind. 

 

3. Top off your benefit package traditional healthcare accounts that help your employees 

dramatically save on everyday medical, dental and vision expenses. These are the basic 

benefits that employees have come to expect from top employers like Healthcare FSA, 

HRAs, HSAs and more! 

 

 

 
 



  

 

 

8

    

UNIVERSAL BENEFIT ACCOUNT OPTIONS  
Select all the UBA accounts to be quoted in this sales proposal: 

 

 

H
E

A
LT

H
C

A
R

E
 

Flexible Spending Accounts 

(FSA) 

 Healthcare FSA 

 Limited Purpose Healthcare FSA (LPFSA) 

Health Savings Account (HSA)   Health Savings Account (HSA) 

Health Reimbursement 

Arrangements (HRA) 

 Health Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA)  Medicare HRA 

 Integrated Funded HRA (Integrated FHRA)  Spousal Incentive HRA 

 Retiree Funded HRA (Retiree FHRA)  Emergency Expense HRA 

 Individual Coverage HRA (ICHRA)   

 Excepted Benefit HRA (EBHRA)   

 Qualified Small Employer HRA (QSEHRA)   

 Wellness Reimbursement Arrangement   

 Healthcare Premium (NESP) Reimbursement Account 

 Healthcare Premium Reimbursement Arrangement (Employer-Only Funded) 

FR
IN

G
E

 

Family Accounts 

 Dependent Care FSA 

 Back-up Care Reimbursement Account 

 Child Adoption Assistance Account 

 Fertility Assistance Account 

Lifestyle Accounts 

 Lifestyle Reimbursement Account 

 Gender Affirmation Reimbursement Account  

 Pet Insurance Reimbursement Account 

 Pet Care Reimbursement Account 

 
 

Wellness Rewards Account  
Medical Travel Account 

Commuter 

 Parking Account 

 Transit Account 

 
 

Bike Account 
Gas Plus Account 

Other  

 Emergency Expense Reimbursement Account 

 Employee Achievement/Award Account 

 Vaccination Reward Account 

Accountable Plans 
(Business Expense Accounts) 

 Professional Business Expense Account 

 Home Office Account 

 Travel and Business Meals Account 

 Work Clothes Account 

 Workplace Tools Account 

 Office Supplies Expense Reimbursement Account 

E
D

 

Education Accounts 
 Tuition Reimbursement Account 

 Student Loan Reimbursement Account 

G
IV

E
 

Giving Accounts 
 Employer Crisis Fund Account  Employer Philanthropy Fund Account 

 Employee Crisis Fund Account  Disaster Relief Fund Account 

W
e

a
lt

h
  

Wealth Accounts 

 

 

 Giving Savings Account  Emergency Savings Account 

 Commission Account  Holiday Club Account 

TOTAL # OF ACCOUNTS SELECTED: 3 



  

 

 

9

    

PARTNER WITH TASC 

 

Now that you picked the right accounts for your unique benefit plan, it’s time to price it out. 

Thankfully, TASC UBA provides a straightforward approach to pricing, which makes it easy to 

buy and manage benefits as your needs evolve. All TASC clients follow this simplified process: 

 

Annual Membership Fee 
Gain access to TASC’s expert administrative and customer service support as well as our self-

service online administration portal, the TASC Card, Mobile App, MyCash, Picture to Pay, and 

more. 

 

Level Options and Monthly Fee 
Select the number of accounts you want to include within your desired benefit plan. Your plan 

becomes more cost-effective with each new account that you add, and our unlimited option 

provides access to everything we offer. 

» Level 1: One benefit account 

» Level 2: Two, three or four benefit accounts 

» Level 3: Unlimited benefit accounts      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

 

 

10

    

Proposed Fees for: Regional Water Authority 
 

Number of Employees: 10 

Plan Start Date: 01/01/2024 
 

Annual Membership Fee  $400.00 

Includes:  

� Access to TASC’s expert administrative and 

customer service support 
� Cloud-based secure online portal 
� TASC Card 
� Mobile app 

� MyCash Account 

� Picture to Pay / Pay the Provider 
� TASC Wallet 
� Audit Guarantee  
� And more… 

Monthly Administration Fee (per Participant, per Month) 
Based on total number of employees included with annual census and selected level 

$5.00 

Monthly Minimum Fee (apply if greater than PPPM fee) $75.00 

Level Selected (based on # of accounts): 

  Level 1 (one account)   Level 2 (two-four accounts) 

 

  Level 3 (unlimited accounts) 

 

Add-On Packages (optional) $ 

 

 

 

FIRST YEAR ESTIMATED FEE  
 

GUARANTEES: The pricing presented in this proposal is guaranteed for 90 days. 

 
Any and all information in this TASC proposal is confidential and can be used for the sole purpose of placing a client with 

TASC. Any disclosure of this information to any other third party is a breach of the TASC Agency Agreement(s) and will 

cause losses to TASC. TASC will immediately terminate any agreement with any person who discloses the information to 

an unauthorized third person and seek immediate reimbursement for any loss attributable to the disclosure.  

 

                                                                                                                                                                                   TC-6131-031323 



Agenda Item 6.0 

 

 
Regional Water Authority 
September 14, 2023 
Regular Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 6.0 
Page 1 of 2 

  

 
 

Topic: Revisions to Policy 200.1 (Rules for Proceedings)  
Type: Old Business 
Item For: Action; Motion to Recommend Approval of RWA Board 
Purpose: Routine 

 
 
 

 
SUBMITTED BY: 

   Jim Peifer 
Executive Director 

 
PRESENTER: 

Jim Peifer 
Executive Director 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This item proposes revisions to Policy 200.1 (Rules for Proceedings) based on direction from the 
Board of Directors. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION 
Consider proposed revisions and approve revisions to Policy 200.1. 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
Policy 200.1 (Rules for Proceedings) provides the rules for how and when board meetings are 
conducted.  During the May 18, 2023 board meeting, the Board of Directors requested that staff 
bring back proposed policy changes to Policy 200.1.   
 
The draft revisions to the policy contain the following changes: 
 
• Revisions to Rule 3 are being proposed to reflect that a motion can be made to identify 

future meetings instead of a resolution.   
• Revisions to Rule 3 remove the former Birdcage St. office as a location for Board meetings.   
• Rule 11 has been revised to provide a virtual access link for the public during board 

meetings.  The Board directed staff to provide this option for the purposes of improved 
access for public participation and greater transparency during the May 18th Board meeting. 

• Rule 25 has been revised to include the provisions of AB 2449 for occasional remote 
participation and require the Board to meet in person unless there is a circumstance that 
allows remote participation provided for under AB 2449.  The direction provided by the 
Board was for the board members to participate in person. 

 
During the August 22nd Executive Committee meeting, a majority of the committee members voted 
to recommend the draft policy changes to the Board for consideration and approval.  (6 yes votes, 2 
no votes, 1 absent) 
 



Agenda Item 6.0 

 

 
Regional Water Authority 
September 14, 2023 
Regular Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 6.0 
Page 2 of 2 

  

The remote participation provisions of AB 2449 expire after December 31, 2025.  Staff recommends 
that the policy be reevaluated by that date to reflect any additional changes in the Brown Act that 
might have become law including if the AB 2449 remote participation provisions become 
permanent or if they have expired. 
 
FINDING/CONCLUSION 
Staff recommends the Board consider and approve the proposed revisions to Policy 200.1. 

 
 
 ATTACHMENTS 
 Attachment 1- RWA 200.1 DRAFT Rules for Proceedings Revisions  



 

 Page 1 of 15 
  

REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY 
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES MANUAL 

 
 
Policy Type : Board of Directors 
Policy Title : Rules for Proceedings of the Board of Directors 
Policy Number : 200.1 
Date Adopted : September 12, 2002 
Date Amended : November 4, 2004;  

September 13, 2012;  
May 2, 2019; 
September _______, 2023 

 
 

 
RULES FOR PROCEEDINGS OF THE 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
 These are the rules for proceedings of meetings of the Board of Directors of the 
Regional Water Authority (“Authority”), which are authorized by Section 17 of the Joint 
Exercise of Powers Agreement forming the Authority, dated July 1, 2001 (“JPA 
Agreement”).  The purposes of these rules are to facilitate public participation during 
meetings of the Board, protect the rights of all Directors, and to provide a process for 
conducting Board meetings in an orderly and efficient manner.  The provisions of the 
JPA Agreement, the Community Services District Law (see Section 7.a.12 of the JPA 
Agreement, and Government Code sections 61000, et seq.), the Brown Act 
(Government Code section 54950, et seq.) and any other law governing the powers 
and/or proceedings of the Authority will control over any inconsistent provision 
contained in these rules. 
 
RULE 1 - SELECTION OF OFFICERS 
 
 The Chair and Vice-Chair of the Board will be elected by the members of the 
Board for a one-year term commencing immediately upon conclusion of the meeting 
where the election was held.  The election will be held prior to January 31 each year.  
The procedures that the Board will follow for the election of Chair and the Vice-Chair are 
set forth in the “Procedures for Selection of the Executive Committee of the Board of 
Directors and the Chair and the Vice-Chair of the Executive Committee and the Board 
of Directors” (attached as Exhibit 1, as amended by the Board from time to time, 
“Election Procedures”). 
   
 The Board will by majority vote appoint, considering the recommendation of the 
Executive Director of the Authority, a Secretary and a Treasurer, who will serve at the 



 

{00131597.1} Page 2 of 15 
  

pleasure of the Board. (See JPA Agreement Section 18, and Government Code 
sections 61002 and 61050(b).) 
 
RULE 2 - DUTIES OF CHAIR OF BOARD 
 
 The Chair of the Board of Directors will be its presiding officer.  (See JPA 
Agreement Section 18, and Government Code section 61043(b).)  The Chair's duties 
will include, but not be limited to, the following: acting as the liaison between the 
Executive Director and the Board and the Executive Committee, calling special 
meetings of the Board and the Executive Committee, presiding over meetings of the 
Board and the Executive Committee, establishing and appointing committees of the 
Board and the Executive Committee (except that, the members of the Executive 
Committee will be appointed in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Election 
Procedures), and appointing representatives of the Authority to associations of which 
the Authority is a member.  The Board will appoint representatives of the Authority to 
joint powers authorities of which the Authority is a member.  In the Chair's absence, the 
Vice-Chair of the Board will perform such duties. (See JPA Agreement Section 18.) 
 
RULE 3 - TIME AND PLACE FOR REGULAR MEETINGS 
 
 The regular meeting of the Board of Directors will be held in the boardroom of the 
Authority’s office, 5620 Birdcage Street, Suite 110, Citrus Heights, California, or at a 
location such other locations within the Authority as designated by the Board of 
Directors by resolution from time to time.  The dates and times of those regular 
meetings also will be as designated by the Board of Directors by resolution from time to 
time, with regular meetings generally occurring at least on the second Thursday of odd-
numbered months. If a regular meeting falls on a holiday (as listed in Government Code 
section 6700), the meeting will be held on the day designated by the Board or the 
Executive Committee.  (See Government Code section 54954(a).) 
 
RULE 4 - QUORUM REQUIREMENTS 
 
 A majority of all of the members of the Board will constitute a quorum for the 
transaction of business.  (See JPA Agreement Section 13.) 
 
RULE 5 - MAJORITY VOTE 
 
 A majority of all of the members of the Board will be required to approve any 
resolution or motion, unless a different voting requirement to approve a particular action 
is specified under State law or the JPA Agreement.  (See JPA Agreement Section 13.) 
 
RULE 6 - WHAT CONSTITUTES AN AFFIRMATIVE VOTE 
 
 Unless a Director is not voting because of a conflict of interest, a Director who is 
present will be deemed to have voted in the affirmative on a matter unless the Director 
votes against the measure by casting a "no" vote.  An "abstain" vote will constitute an 
"aye" vote.  (See Dry Creek Valley Association, Inc. v. Board of Supervisors (1977) 67 



 

 Page 3 of 15 
  

Cal.App.3d 839.)  When calling for the vote on a motion, the Chair of the Board may (1) 
ask for the “aye” and “no” votes, or (2) ask if there is any opposition, since the remaining 
Directors present will be deemed to have voted in the affirmative unless they are not 
voting due to a conflict of interest. 
 
RULE 7 - CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
 
 A member of the Board may not make, participate in making or in any way 
attempt to use his or her official position to influence a decision of the Board of Directors 
in which he or she knows or has reason to know that he or she has a financial interest.  
(Government Code section 87100.) Generally, a Director has a financial interest in a 
matter if it is reasonably foreseeable that the Board decision would have a material 
financial effect (as defined by the Fair Political Practices Commission’s [FPPC] 
regulations) that is distinguishable from the effect on the public generally, involving 
dollar amount set by FPPC regulations from time to time, on (a) a business entity in 
which the Director has a direct or indirect investment, in the amount specified in FPPC 
regulations, (b) real property in which the Director has a direct or indirect investment 
interest, with a worth in the amount specified in FPPC regulations or, (c) a source of 
income of the Director,  in the amount specified in FPPC regulations, within twelve 
months before the Board decision, (d) a source of gifts to the Director, in the amount 
specified in FPPC regulations, within twelve months before the Board decision, or (e) a 
business entity in which the Director holds a position as a director, trustee, officer, 
partner, manager or employee.  An “indirect interest” means any investment or interest 
owned by the spouse or dependent child of the Director, by an agent on behalf of the 
Director, or by a business entity or trust in which the Director, or the Director’s spouse, 
dependent child or agent owns directly, indirectly or beneficially a ten percent interest or 
greater.  (Government Code section 87103.) 
 
 If a member of the Board believes he or she may be disqualified from 
participation in the discussion, deliberations or vote on a particular matter due to a 
conflict of interest, the following procedure will be used:  (a) if the Director becomes 
aware of the potential conflict of interest before the Board meeting at which the matter 
will be discussed or acted on, the Director will notify the Executive Director of the 
potential conflict of interest, so that a determination can be made whether it is a 
disqualifying conflict of interest; (b) if it is not possible for the Director to discuss the 
potential conflict with the Executive Director before the meeting, or if the Director does 
not become aware of the potential conflict until during the meeting, the Director will 
immediately disclose the potential conflict during the Board meeting, so that there can 
be a determination whether it is a disqualifying conflict of interest; and (c) upon a 
determination that a disqualifying conflict of interest exists, the Director (1) will not 
participate in the discussion, deliberation or vote on the matter for which a conflict of 
interest exists; and (2) unless the matter has been placed on the consent calendar, 
leave the Board room until after the discussion, vote or any other disposition of the 
matter has been concluded, except that the Director may speak on the matter during the 
time that the general public speaks on the matter.  In such a case, the Board minutes 
will state:  "Due to a potential conflict of interest, Director _____________ left the 
boardroom and did not participate in the discussion, deliberation or vote on this matter." 



 

{00131597.1} Page 4 of 15 
  

 
 
 
RULE 8 - MOTIONS 
 
 The three steps for bringing a motion before the Board are: (a) a Director makes 
a motion, (b) another Director seconds the motion, and (c) the Chair states the motion.  
Once the motion has been stated by the Chair, it is open to formal discussion.  While 
only one motion can be considered at a time, and a pending motion must be disposed 
of before any other question is considered, (a) a pending motion may be amended 
before it is voted on, either by the consent of the Directors who moved and seconded, 
or by a new motion (and second) “to amend” the pending motion, which is then 
approved by the Board, or (b) a pending motion may be tabled before it is voted on by 
motion (and second) made “to table,” which is then approved by the Board, or (c) a 
pending motion may be rejected without further discussion or action by a motion (and 
second) “of objection to consideration,” which is then approved by the Board, or (d) 
further discussion of a pending motion can be terminated by a motion (and second) “to 
call the question,” which is then approved by the Board.  Any Director, including the 
Chair, may make or second a motion. 
 
RULE 9 - PROTECTION OF RIGHTS OF DIRECTORS 
 
 One of the primary purposes for these rules of procedure is to protect the rights 
of all Directors.  The Chair will allow each Director a reasonable opportunity to discuss a 
motion, after it has been made and seconded, and before it has been voted on.  The 
Chair can set reasonable time limits for discussion of a motion.  A Director can object to 
a procedural ruling by the Chair by stating: “Mr./Madam Chair, I rise to a point of order.”  
The Chair must then ask the Director to state the point of order.  The Chair will then rule 
on the point of order.  The Chair’s ruling on a point of order may be appealed by a 
motion made and seconded to appeal the decision, which is then voted on by the 
Board. 
 

In order to ensure that the Board’s discussions and deliberations during a public 
meeting can be heard by other Board members and the public, Directors should refrain 
from engaging in other than oral communications on Authority matters during a Board or 
committee meeting (e.g., refrain from using written, electronic or telephonic 
communications that are not made available to other Board members and to the public). 
 
RULE 10 - RECORD OF VOTE 
 
 Except where action is taken by the unanimous vote of all Board members 
present and voting, the ayes and noes taken upon the passage of all resolutions or 
motions will be entered upon the minutes.  (See Government Code section 61045(d).) 
 
RULE 11 - AGENDA AND AGENDA MATERIALS 
 
 The Executive Director will be responsible for preparing the agenda for regular 



 

 Page 5 of 15 
  

Board meetings and meetings of the Executive Committee and other standing 
committees (see Government Code section 54952 and Rules 21 and 22), and having it 
posted at the Authority office in a location freely accessible to the public no later than 
seventy-two hours before a regular meeting. The Executive Director will also be 
responsible for preparing the agenda for ad hoc advisory committee meetings. The 
agenda will specify the time and location of the meeting and contain a brief, general 
description of each item of business to be transacted or discussed at the meeting, 
including closed session items.  (See Government Code section 54954.2.)  Any 
member of the Board may request that the Executive Director place an item for 
discussion or action on the agenda.  In order to allow sufficient time to prepare the 
agenda and back-up materials, the deadline for adding items to the agenda for a regular 
meeting will be at noon, five working days before the meeting. 
 
 An agenda for a regular or special Board meeting will contain the following 
statements: (a) "The public shall have the opportunity to directly address the Board  on 
any item of interest either before or during the Board’s consideration of that item. Public 
comment on items within the jurisdiction of the Board is welcomed, subject to 
reasonable time limitations for each speaker."  (See Government Code section 
54954.3(a).); (b) “Public documents relating to any open session item listed on this 
agenda that are distributed to all or a majority of the members of the Board of Directors 
less than 72 hours before the meeting are available for public inspection in the customer 
service area of the Authority’s Administrative Office at the address listed above.” (See 
Government Code section 54957.5(b)(2).); and (c) "In compliance with the Americans 
with Disabilities Act, if you have a disability and you need a disability-related 
modification or accommodation to participate in this meeting, then please contact the 
Executive Director of the Authority.  Requests must be made as early as possible, and 
at least one-full business day before the start of the meeting."  (See Government Code 
section 54954.2 (a).)  
 

The Public shall be provided the option to attend and participate in Board 
meetings via one of the following: (1) a two-way audiovisual platform, such as Zoom, 
GoToMeeting, or MS Teams; or (2) a two-way telephone conference and a live webcast 
of the meeting.   
 

Additional statements may be added to the agenda from time to time as 
recommended or deemed advisable by the Board Chair, Executive Director or General 
Counsel. 
   
RULE 12 - REQUESTS FOR COPIES OF AGENDAS AND AGENDA MATERIALS  
 
 Any person may request the Authority to mail or electronically transmit to him or 
her a copy of the agenda or agenda packet for any meeting of the Board.  When the 
Authority receives such a request, the Executive Director will transmit copies of the 
requested materials (except for documents that are exempt from disclosure under the 
Public Records Act) to the requesting party at the time that the agenda is posted or 
when the agenda packets are distributed to a majority of the Board members, whichever 
occurs first. Any request for copies of agendas or agenda packets for all Board 



 

{00131597.1} Page 6 of 15 
  

meetings in a given year will be valid for the calendar year in which the request is 
submitted, and the request must be renewed after January 1 of each year in which it is 
to remain in effect.  (Government Code section 54954.1.)  
 

Documents that are distributed to all or a majority of the members of the Board 
by any person in connection with a matter subject to discussion or consideration at a 
regular or special meeting of the Board will be disclosable public records under the 
California Public Records Act (commencing with Government Code section 6250), and 
will be made available upon request by a member of the public without delay, except as 
to documents that are exempt from disclosure under the Public Records Act.  
Documents that are distributed during a regular or special Board meeting that are 
subject to disclosure under the Public Records Act will be made available for public 
inspection at the meeting, if prepared by the Authority or a member of the Board, or 
after the meeting, if prepared by some other person.  The Authority may charge a fee 
for responding to requests for copies of agendas, agenda packets or other documents, 
which fee will be limited to the Authority’s copying and postage costs.  (See 
Government Code section 54957.5(a) and (b).) 
 

Public documents and materials that are related to an open session agenda item 
that are provided to the Board less than seventy-two hours before a regular meeting will 
be made available for public inspection and copying at the Authority’s office during 
normal business hours. These documents also may be made available on the 
Authority's web site. (See Government Code section 54957.5.) 
 
 Upon request, the agenda and other documents referred to in this rule will be 
made available in an appropriate alternative format to persons with a disability, as 
required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. 
section 12132) and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation thereof.  
(See Government Code sections 54954.1, 54954.2(a) and 54957.5(b).) The Authority 
will not charge a special surcharge to provide documents requested in an alternative 
format by a person with a disability in accordance with the Americans with Disabilities 
Act and its implementing regulations.  (See Government Code section 54957.5(c).) 
 
 The Authority  may record its meetings for the sole purpose of assisting staff with 
the preparation of minutes.  If RWA records a meeting, it will retain the recording  for at 
least thirty days following the meeting or Board or committee approval of the minutes, 
whichever occurs later, after which the recording may be erased or destroyed.  The 
public may inspect the recording on a playback device made available by the Authority, 
without charge. (See Government Code section 54953.5(b).) 
 
RULE 13 - AUTHORITY TO ACT ON MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 
 The Board will not take action on or discuss any item not appearing on the 
posted agenda, except under the following conditions, in which cases the item will be 
publicly identified before discussion begins:  (a) upon a determination by a majority of 
the Board that an emergency situation exists as provided in Rule 26; (b) upon a 
determination by a two-third vote of the Board members present at the meeting, or, if 



 

 Page 7 of 15 
  

less than two-thirds of the members of the Board are present, a unanimous vote of 
those members present, that the need to take immediate action became apparent after 
the agenda was posted; or (c) the item was posted for a prior meeting of the Board 
occurring not more than five calendar days prior to the date action is taken on the item, 
and at the prior meeting the item was continued to the meeting at which action is being 
taken.  (See Government Code sections 54954.2 and 54956.5.) 
 
 
RULE 14 - CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
 The Executive Director may list on the agenda a "consent calendar", which will 
consist of routine matters on which there is generally no opposition or need for 
discussion. Examples of consent calendar items might include approval of minutes, 
financial reports and routine resolutions.  Any matter may be removed from the consent 
calendar and placed on the regular calendar at the request of any member of the Board.  
The entire consent calendar may be approved by a single motion made, seconded and 
approved by the Board. 
 
RULE 15 - ORAL INFORMATIONAL REPORTS 
 
 Any member of the Board may make an oral report at a regular meeting for the 
purpose of informing the Board of any matter of interest to the Authority.  The Board 
may also call on the Executive Director, Authority staff or Authority legal counsel for oral 
informational reports on matters not on the agenda. Unless the Board makes the 
determinations required under Rule 13, there will be no more than limited discussion, 
and no action, on matters covered in such oral reports.  (See Government Code section 
54954.2(a).) 
 
RULE 16 - PUBLIC FORUM AND COMMENT 
 
 Every agenda for a regular meeting will provide an opportunity for members of 
the public to directly address the Board on items of interest that are within the subject 
matter jurisdiction of the Board and that do not appear on the agenda.  This agenda 
item will be described substantially as follows:  "Opportunity for public comment on non-
agenda items."  During the Public Forum, the Board may, at its discretion, not respond, 
briefly respond to statements made or to questions posed by the public, or ask Authority 
staff for clarification, refer the matter to Authority staff or ask Authority staff to report 
back at a future meeting.  (See Government Code sections 54954.2 and 54954.3.)  The 
Board will not take action on any matter raised during the Public Forum, unless the 
Board first makes the determinations set forth in Rule 13.  In order to facilitate public 
participation during the Public Forum session of the meeting, the Board may limit the 
total amount of time allocated for public comment on a particular issue (10 minutes or 
less will normally be standard), and may limit the time allocated for public comment of 
an individual speaker (3 minutes or less will normally be standard). The Chair may 
declare as out of order irrelevant, repetitious or disruptive comments.  (See Government 
Code section 54954.3.) 
 



 

{00131597.1} Page 8 of 15 
  

 The public may address the Board concerning an agenda item either before or 
during the Board's consideration of that agenda item.  (See Government Code section 
54954.3(a).) 
 
 These rules are not intended to prohibit public criticism of policies, procedures, 
programs or services of the Authority, or of the acts or omissions of the Board.  (See 
Government Code section 54954.3(c).) 
 
 In the event that any meeting is willfully interrupted by a group or groups of 
persons so as to render the orderly conduct of such meeting unfeasible, and order 
cannot be restored by the removal of individuals who are willfully interrupting the 
meeting, the Board may order the meeting room cleared and continue in session.  Only 
matters appearing on the agenda may be considered in such a session.  
Representatives of the press or other news media, except those participating in the 
disturbance, will be allowed to attend any session held pursuant to this section.  Nothing 
in this section will prohibit the Board from readmitting an individual or individuals not 
responsible for disturbing the orderly conduct of the meeting.  (See Government Code 
section 54957.9.) 
 

It is the general policy of the Board to refer to the Executive Director for 
resolution of complaints received from members of the public.  If the complaint cannot 
be resolved, the Executive Director will place it on a meeting agenda for consideration 
by the Board. 
 
RULE 17 - PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
 The procedure for conducting public hearings during a meeting of the Board will 
be as follows:  (a) no earlier than the time set for the public hearing, the Chair of the 
Board will declare the public hearing open; (b) the Chair will ask the Executive Director 
whether notice of the public hearing has been given in the manner required by law; (c) 
the Chair will ask the Executive Director whether written comments on the subject 
matter of the public hearing have been received; (d) the Chair will ask whether any 
member of the public wishes to present written or oral comments on the subject of the 
public hearing; (e) in its discretion, the Board may set time limits on the amount of time 
an individual speaker is allowed to comment orally during the public hearing; and (f) 
following the close of presentation of comments, the Chair will declare the public 
hearing closed.  The Board may continue a public hearing from time to time in 
accordance with the procedures provided in Rule 18. (See Government Code section 
54955.1.)  If otherwise permitted by law, the Board may take action related to the 
subject matter of the public hearing after the hearing is closed. 
 
RULE 18 - ADJOURNMENT 
 
 A meeting of the Board will be adjourned by (a) loss of a quorum, (b) by motion 
made, seconded and approved to adjourn the meeting, or (c) by declaration of the Chair 
that the meeting is adjourned when the agenda has been completed and there is no 
further business to come before the Board.  A regular or special meeting of the Board 



 

 Page 9 of 15 
  

may also be adjourned for the purpose of continuing it to a specific day and time (a) by 
motion made, seconded and approved, (b) by approval of less than a quorum if a 
quorum is not present, or (c) by the Secretary of the Board if all members are absent 
from any regular or adjourned regular meeting.  A copy of the order or notice of 
adjournment to continue a meeting to another date will be conspicuously posted on or 
near the door of the Authority boardroom or other location where the meeting was held 
within twenty-four hours after the time of adjournment.  (See Government Code section 
54955.) 
 
RULE 19  - SPECIAL MEETINGS 
 
 A special meeting may be called at any time by the Chair, by the Executive 
Committee or by a majority of the members of the Board, by delivering personally or by 
any other means, including mail, facsimile and electronic mail, written notice to each 
member and to each newspaper, radio or television station requesting notice in writing.  
Such notice must be received at least twenty-four hours before the time of such meeting 
as specified in the notice (except as to emergency meetings, in which case, the notice 
requirements specified in Rule 26 will be followed).  Electronic mail will constitute notice 
of a special meeting only if the recipient confirms receipt, and it will be deemed to be 
received at the time of such confirmation. The call and notice must specify the time and 
place of the special meeting and the business to be transacted, and will include the 
statements specified in Rule 11. No other business will be considered at such meeting.  
The written notice may be dispensed with as to any member who at or prior to the time 
the meeting convenes files with the Authority Secretary a written waiver of notice.  
Waiver may be given in person or by mail, facsimile, or electronic mail.  Such written 
notice may also be dispensed with as to any member who was actually present at the 
meeting at the time it convenes.  The call and notice must also be posted at least 
twenty-four hours before the meeting in a location freely accessible to the public.  (See 
Government Code sections 54954.3(a) and 54956.) 
 
RULE 20 - BOARD WORKSHOP MEETINGS 
 
          From time to time, the Board may set a regular or special meeting to be 
conducted as a “workshop meeting,” during which the Board will have the opportunity to 
receive presentations on and discuss matters identified on the agenda, but the Board 
would not normally take action on those items.  Nothing in this rule is intended to 
prevent the Board from taking action on a matter during a workshop session if it is 
identified as an “action item” on the agenda for that meeting. 
 
RULE 21 - BOARD COMMITTEES 
 
           Board committees will be composed of less than a majority of Directors, and may 
be either standing committees or ad hoc advisory committees.  The Board has the 
following standing committee (i.e., committees with continuing subject matter 
jurisdiction; see Government Code section 54952): the Executive Committee.  In 
accordance with Rule 11, standing committee meetings will be open to the public 
(except for authorized closed sessions), and the agenda for those meetings will be 



 

{00131597.1} Page 10 of 15 
  

posted in the same manner as the agenda for regular Board meetings.  In addition, the 
Chair may from time to time establish, and appoint the members of, ad hoc advisory 
committees to serve a limited or single purpose, which committees are to be dissolved 
once their specific task is completed.  The meetings of an ad hoc advisory committee 
are not required to be open to the public, and notice of such meetings is not required to 
be posted. (See Government Code sections 54951 and 54952.)   
 
 Directors who are not members of a standing committee may attend a standing 
committee meeting only as observers, and they may not participate in the committee 
meeting, ask questions or sit with the committee members at the Board table.  (See 
Government Code section 54952.2(c)(6).) Directors who are not members of an ad hoc 
committee may not attend an ad hoc committee meeting, unless such a meeting has 
been publicly noticed, in which case the same rules governing attendance at standing 
committee meetings described above shall apply. 
 
RULE 22 - EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 
 
 The Executive Committee of the Board will have the duties and authority 
specified in Section 10.a of the JPA Agreement, and as set forth in the “Authority 
Delegated to the Executive Committee” (Authority Policy 200.2, attached as Exhibit 2, 
as amended by the Board from time to time ).  The Executive Committee will operate 
according to these Rules to the extent applicable. 
 
RULE 23 - EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
 
 The Executive Director of the Authority will have the duties and authority 
specified in Section 19 of the JPA Agreement, and as set forth in the “Authority 
Delegated to the Executive Director” (Authority Policy 300.1, attached as Exhibit 3, as 
amended by the Board from time to time ). 
 
RULE 24 - CLOSED SESSIONS 
 
 A closed session may be held on any subject authorized under the Brown Act.  
The agenda for a regular or special meeting will contain a brief, general description of 
the purpose of a closed session, in substantially the following form: 
 
 a. Conference with legal counsel--existing litigation; Government Code 
sections 54954.5(c) and 54956.9(a); ______________ v. _______________ [insert 
name of case, e.g., Jones v. Authority]. 
 
 b. Conference with legal counsel--existing litigation; Government Code 
sections 54954.5(c) and 54956.9(a); case name unspecified because 
__________________________ [insert either "disclosure would jeopardize service of 
process" or "disclosure would jeopardize existing settlement negotiations"]. 
 
 c. Conference with legal counsel--anticipated litigation; Government Code 
sections 54954.5(c) and 54956.9(b); significant exposure to litigation involving 



 

 Page 11 of 15 
  

__________________ [describe]. 
 
 d. Conference with legal counsel--anticipated litigation; Government Code 
sections 54954.5(c) and 54956.9(c); consideration of initiation of litigation involving 
_____________ [describe]. 
 
 e. Public employee appointment involving ____________________ [insert 
position(s) to be filled]; Government Code sections 54954.5(e) and 54957.  
 
 f. Public employee performance evaluation involving 
____________________ [insert position(s) being reviewed]; Government Code sections 
54954.5(e) and 54957. 
 
 g. Public employee discipline/dismissal/release; Government Code sections 
54954.5(e) and 54957.  [No additional information required.] 
 
 h. Conference with labor negotiator involving ______________ [insert name 
of Authority negotiator] and _______________ [insert name of employee organization 
involved in negotiation]; Government Code sections 54954.5(f) and 54957.6. 
 
 i. Conference with labor negotiator involving _________________ [insert 
name of Authority negotiator] and unrepresented employee(s) in position(s) of 
____________________ [insert position(s) of unrepresented employee(s) involved in 
negotiation]; Government Code sections 54954.5(f) and 54957.6. 
 
 j. Conference with real property negotiator involving 
______________________ [insert street address or other description of property], and 
_____________________ [insert name(s) of Authority negotiator(s); Authority 
negotiators will negotiate with __________ [insert name of other party(ies)].  
Instructions to the negotiator(s) may include price, terms of payment, or both.  (See 
Government Code sections 54954.5(b) and 54956.8.) 
  
 k. Closed session consultation with ____________ [insert the name of a law 
enforcement agency, and the title of the officer, or the name of an applicable agency 
representative and title] concerning a threat to public services or facilities, or for the 
assessment of the security vulnerability of public facilities.  (See Government Code 
section 54957.) 
 The Board will not keep minutes of its closed sessions.  (See Government Code 
section 54957.2.)  In the closed session, the Board will consider only those matters 
covered in its statement of reasons for holding the closed session.  (See Government 
Code section 54957.7.) 
 
 Before holding a closed session to consider complaints or charges against a 
particular employee (as distinguished from mere evaluation of performance unrelated to 
any specific complaint or charge), the Authority will provide twenty-four hours' advance 
written notice to the employee of his or her right to have the matter heard in open 
session.  (See Government Code section 54957.) 



 

{00131597.1} Page 12 of 15 
  

 
 A closed session may be held to meet with the Authority's negotiator regarding 
the salary and benefits of Authority officers and employees, but not including elected 
officials, but the Authority's available funds, funding priorities or budget will not be 
discussed during the closed session.  (See Government Code section 54957.6.) 
 
 Following every closed session, the Board will reconvene to open session and 
publicly report any action and vote during the closed session in accordance with the 
following guidelines: 
 
 a. For action concerning final approval of a real property purchase/sale 
agreement or lease, report in open session at the same meeting the action taken 
(including the substance of the agreement) and vote, except that, if final approval rests 
with another party, the report may be deferred until the other party's approval. (See 
Government Code section 54957.1(a)(1).) 
 
 b.  Approval given to legal counsel to defend or initiate a lawsuit, or seek 
appellate review will be reported in open session at the public meeting during which the 
closed session was held.  (See Government Code section 54957.1(a)(2).) 
 
 c.  Approval given to legal counsel to settle pending litigation or action taken 
to dispose of a claim will be reported in open session as soon as the settlement or claim 
disposition becomes final.  (See Government Code section 54957.1(a)(3) and (4).) 
 
 d. For action to appoint, employ or dismiss, accept the resignation of, or 
otherwise affect the employment status of an employee, the Board will report in open 
session at the same meeting the action taken (including identity of employee or position 
and any change in compensation) and vote, except that, for any dismissal or non-
renewal of a contract, the report back may be deferred until the first meeting after the 
exhaustion of administrative remedies.  (See Government Code section 54957.1(a)(5).) 
 
 e. For action concerning a labor MOU, after the MOU has been approved by 
both parties, the Board will report in open session the action taken and vote.  (See 
Government Code section 54957.1(a)(6).) 
 
 The Authority will make available after a closed session to anyone who has 
requested them in advance, agreements or other documents approved in closed 
session, unless the document needs to be revised, in which case it will be provided as 
soon as possible.  After the closed session, changes to the agreement will be orally 
summarized if anyone present so requests.  (See Government Code section 
54957.1(b).) 
 
 A Director is not authorized, without approval of the Board of Directors, to 
disclose information that is deemed confidential information under applicable provisions 
of law to a person not authorized to receive it, that (1) has been received for, or during, 
a closed session meeting of the Board, (2) is protected from disclosure under the 
attorney/client or other evidentiary privilege, or (3) is not required or authorized to be 



 

 Page 13 of 15 
  

disclosed under the California Public Records Act.  A Director is not prohibited from 
taking the following actions in regard to a closed session of the Board: (a) making a 
confidential inquiry or complaint to a district attorney or grand jury concerning a 
perceived violation of law, including disclosing facts to a district attorney or grand jury 
that are necessary to establish the alleged illegality of an action taken by the Board, (b) 
expressing an opinion concerning the propriety or legality of actions taken by the Board 
in closed session, including disclosure of the nature and extent of the allegedly illegal 
action, or (c) disclosing information acquired by being present in a closed session that is 
not confidential information.  Prior to disclosing confidential information pursuant to (a) 
or (b), above, however, a Board member will first bring the matter to the attention of 
either the Chair of the Board or the full Board, to provide the Board an opportunity to 
cure an alleged violation.  A Director who willfully and knowingly discloses for pecuniary 
gain confidential information received by him or her in the course of his or her official 
duties may be guilty of a misdemeanor under Government Code section 1098. (See 
Government Code section 54963; 76 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 289 (1993) and 80 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 231 (1997).) 
 

It is within the Board’s discretion to allow a Director who serves as a member of 
the legislative body of a member agency to disclose information obtained in a closed 
session that has direct financial or liability implications for that member agency to the 
following individuals: (1) legal counsel of that member local agency for purposes of 
obtaining advice on whether the matter has direct financial or liability implications for 
that member local agency; or (2) other  members of the legislative body of the member 
agency present in a closed session of that member agency. (See Government Code 
section 54956.96) 
 

RULE 25  - MEETINGS BY TELECONFERENCE 
 
 Board members will attend Board meetings in person unless they qualify to 
participate in the meeting remotely under the “just cause” and “emergency 
circumstances” provisions of AB 2449 and their alternate is unavailable, or if the Board 
elects to hold a meeting by teleconference.  
 

The Board or the Executive Committee may hold meetings by teleconference.  
(See Government Code section 54953(b).)  For purposes of this rule, "meetings by 
teleconference" include meetings at which one or more Board member attends and 
participates in the meeting by telephone, video conferencing or any other electronic 
means using live audio or video, or both.  For any meeting by teleconference conducted 
by the Board, the following requirements will apply: 
 
 a. During a meeting by teleconference, at least a quorum of the members of 
the Board will participate from locations within the territory of the Authority. 
 

b. Each teleconference location (i.e., the location from which one or more 
Board members attends and participates in a meeting by teleconference) will be 
accessible to the public.  
 

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.5"



 

{00131597.1} Page 14 of 15 
  

 c. When meetings by teleconference are held by telephone, speaker phones 
will be used at the main meeting location and at any teleconference location where 
there are members of the public in attendance. 
 
 d. All votes taken at a meeting by teleconference will be by roll call. 
 
 e The Board will conduct the meeting by teleconference in a manner that 
protects the statutory and constitutional rights of parties and the public to attend and 
participate in the meeting. 
 
 f. Each teleconference location will be identified in the regular meeting 
agenda or special meeting notice, and the agenda or notice will state that members of 
the public will have the opportunity to address the Board from any teleconference 
location. 
 
 g. Notice of any meeting by teleconference will be included in the meeting 
agenda or special meeting notice in substantially the following form: 
 

"All or portions of this meeting will be conducted by teleconference in 
accordance with Government Code section 54953(b).  The teleconference 
location(s) for the meeting are as follows:  
____________________________.  Each teleconference location is 
accessible to the public, and members of the public may address the 
Board of Directors from any teleconference location." 

 
 h. In addition to the usual notice and agenda requirements, the regular 
meeting agenda or special meeting notice will be posted at all teleconference locations 
at least seventy-two hours before regular meetings or twenty-four hours before special 
meetings. 
 
RULE 26 – EMERGENCY MEETINGS 
 
 Under Government Code section 54956.5, the Authority may hold a meeting to 
address an emergency if a majority of the Board determines that a situation exists that 
involves matters upon which prompt action is necessary. An emergency situation is 
defined as: (1) a work stoppage, crippling activity, or other activity that severely impairs 
public health, safety, or both; or (2) a dire emergency, which shall be defined as a 
crippling disaster, mass destruction, terrorist act, or threatened terrorist activity that 
poses peril so immediate and significant that requiring the Board to provide one-hour 
notice before holding an emergency meeting may endanger the public health, safety, or 
both.  
 
 As a condition of holding an emergency meeting, the Board Chair or his/her 
designee shall provide notice of the meeting by telephone to each local newspaper of 
general circulation, radio station and television station that has requested notice of 
special meetings.  For a meeting for a “non-dire emergency” (Definition 1, above), the 
telephone notice must be provided at least one hour prior to the emergency meeting.  In 



 

 Page 15 of 15 
  

the case of a meeting for a “dire emergency” (Definition 2, above), the telephone notice 
must be provided to the media at or near the same time as notice is given to the 
members of the Board.  In the event that telephone services are not functioning, the 
notice requirements of this section shall be deemed waived, and the legislative body, or 
designee of the legislative body, shall notify those newspapers, radio stations, or 
television stations of the fact of the holding of the emergency meeting, the purpose of 
the meeting, and any action taken at the meeting as soon after the meeting as possible. 

 
The Board may meet in closed session upon approval by a two-thirds vote of the 

Board (or the unanimous vote of the Board if less than two-thirds are present) to discuss 
matters related to the emergency situation. (See Government Code sections 54956.5(c) 
and 54957.)   
 

With the exception of the 24-hour notice and posting requirements and any other 
exceptions provided in herein, all special meeting requirements described in Rule 19 
shall be applicable to an emergency meeting called pursuant to this Rule. 
 

The draft minutes of an emergency meeting called under this Rule must be 
posted in a public place for a minimum of 10 days as soon after the meeting as 
possible, and include a list of persons who the Board Chair or his/her designee notified 
or attempted to notify of the meeting, if applicable, any actions taken at the meeting, 
and a recording of any votes taken by roll call. (See Government Code section 
54956.5(e).) 
 
RULE 27 - COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS 
 
 The Authority does not compensate or reimburse the expenses of members of 
the Board of Directors. Generally, the agency that a member of the Board represents 
provides for compensation and reimbursement of expenses associated with 
representing that agency on the Board of the Authority, in accordance with the rules of 
that agency. 
 
RULE 28 - AMENDMENT OF RULES 
 
 By motion made, seconded and approved, the Board in its discretion may at any 
meeting (a) temporarily suspend these rules in whole or in part, (b) amend these rules 
in whole or in part, or (c) both. 
 

 



Agenda Item 7 

 

 
Regional Water Authority 
September 14, 2023 
Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 7 
Page 1 of 1 

 
 

 
 

Topic: Sacramento Regional Water Bank Project Update 
Item For: Information/Presentation 
Purpose: General 

 
 
 

 
SUBMITTED BY: 

Trevor Joseph,  
Manager of Technical Services 

 
PRESENTER: 

Trevor Joseph,  
Manager of Technical Services 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This is an information/presentation item for the Regional Water Authority Board of Directors to 
receive a presentation from Trevor Joseph, Manager of Technical Services. Staff will provide a 
briefing on the Sacramento Regional Water Bank (SRWB) development project. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION 
None. This item is for information/discussion only. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
RWA staff are working on behalf of approximately 20 local RWA member agencies, referred to as 
the SRWB Program Committee to develop the SRWB.  RWA staff will provide an update on the SRWB 
and its associated activities.  
 
ATTACHMENT 
Attachment 1- PowerPoint Presentation: Sacramento Regional Water Bank Update 
 


	Agenda Packet - RWA Board Meeting - September 14 2023
	AGENDA
	1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
	2. PUBLIC COMMENT
	3. CONSENT CALENDAR
	3.1 Meeting Minutes
	Attachment 1- Draft meeting minutes of June 14, 2023
	Attachment 2- Draft meeting minutes of August 21, 2023

	3.2 Approve Change Order #4 Stantec
	Attachment 1 - Professional Services Agreement with Stantec Consulting Services Inc.
	Attachment 2 - Change Order #4 with Stantec Consulting Services Inc.

	3.3 Approve Task Order #2 Khadam Consulting Inc.
	Attachment 1 - Professional Services Agreement and Task Order #1 with Khadam Consulting Inc.
	Attachment 2 - Task Order #2 with Khadam Consulting Inc.


	4. New Members
	Attachment 1- Supporting Letter from Wood Rodgers Inc. dated August 11, 2023

	5. Employee Supplemental Benefits
	Attachment 1- TASC Proposal

	6. Revisions to Policy 200.1
	Attachment 1- RWA 200.1 DRAFT Rules for Proceedings Revisions

	7. Sacramento Regional Water Bank Project Update
	8. ARTESIAN Agreement Update
	9. Legislative and Regulatory Update
	10. 2024 RWA Board Elections Officers and Executive Committee
	Attachment 1- RWA Policy 200.3 Procedures for Selection of the Executive Committee

	11. Executive Directors’ Report
	Attachment 1- Ad Hoc Committee Purpose and Charge
	Attachment 2- Letter from ECOS
	Attachment 3- Financial Reports

	12. Board Directors’ Comments



